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A

Strategic Report

Principal activities’

UBS Limited (*the Company®) is a private company limited by
shares incorporated in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act 1985, registered in England and Wales with
number 2035362, and now having its registered office situate at
5 Broadgate, London EC2M 2QS. The Company is part of UBS
Group AG Consolidated group, which includes UBS Group AG
and its consolidated subsidiaries, also referred to as “the
Group”. The Company is a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of
UBS AG and is included in its consolidated accounts. UBS Group
AG, a company incorporated with limited liability in Switzerland,

is the ultimate holding company (“the Parent”). The principal

activities of the Company and the nature of its operations are
set out in the Business Overview (see below).

During the year, the Company continued to carry on a
financial services business as a bank authorized in the UK by the
Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by both the
Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority
under the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000, as amended. The Company’s equities business operates a
Multilateral Trading Facility, the UBS MTF. The Company also
maintains certain exchange memberships in the United Kingdom
and elsewhere in order to facilitate or support its business
activities.

As a consolidated part of the Group, the Company and its

performance have been, and continue to be, closely monitored
and overseen by the Parent and UBS AG through Group and
divisional governance and business frameworks.- Independent
governance is maintained through the UBS Limited Board
supported by Board Committees to oversee the operation and

“risk affairs of the Company. Certain financial information is

included in the published quarterly results of the Parent. The
Company is also required to adhere to relevant Group and
divisional policies and codes.

On 24 January 2003 UBS AG issued a deed poll providing a
form of guarantee to clients of the Company. This guarantee
remains in place.

The Company is headquartered in London and the reported
results for the year include branches in France, Germany, Italy
Poland, Sweden, the Netherlands and Switzerland. During the
year the Company had two Representative Offices in Carouge
(Geneva) and Opfikon (Zurich).

On 1 January 2017 the business from UBS AG Sweden
Branch was transferred to UBS Limited Sweden Branch aligning
the legal entity and business governance and supporting the
overall Investment Bank strategy to rationalise its legal entity
model. On 28 February 2017 the representative office in
Carouge (Geneva) was closed.

Business Overview

The Company conducts businéss in a broad range of
Investment Bank products and services, including providing

"corporate and institutional clients with investment advice,

financial solutions and capital markets access. The Company
offers advisory services and provides in-depth cross-asset
research, along with access to equities, foreign exchange,
precious metals and selected rates and credit markets, through
the business units, Corporate Client Solutions and Investor Client
Services.

Corporate Client Solutions

In Corporate Client Solutions (*CCS"), the Company advises

clients on strategic business opportunities and helps them raise

capital to fund their business activities. Together ‘with Investor

Client Services, the Company offers a full-service solution, which

includes the distribution and risk management of capital markets

products and financing solutions. The CCS main business lines
are:

~ Advisory: providing advisory services on ¢
mergers and acquisitions, spin-offs, exchange offers,
leveraged buyouts, joint ventures, exclusive sales,
restructurings, takeover defense and corporate broking.

- Equity Capital Markets: offering comprehensive equity capital-
raising services, as well as related derivative products. This
includes managing initial public offerings and private
placements, as well as equity-linked transactions and other
strategic equities solutions.

- Debt Capital Markets: providing financing advice and helping
‘clients raise various types of debt capital, as well as hedging
resulting exposures.

— Financing Solutions: providing customized solutions across

" asset classes through a wide range of financing capabilities,
including structured financing, real estate finance and special
situations.

- Risk  Management. including
associated hedging activities.

matters such as

corporate lending and

Investor Client Services
In investor Client Services ('ICS'), the Company enables its clients
to buy and sell securities on capital markets across the globe and

-to manage their risk and liquidity. The ICS business lines are:

Equ;t/es

The Company distributes, executes finances and clears equity

cash and derivative products. The main business lines are:

- Cash: offering trade execution and clearing for single stocks
and portfolios through both traditional and electronic
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channels, along with investment advisory and consultancy
services. ’

— Derivatives: enabling clients to manage risk and meet funding
requirements through a-wide range of listed and over-the-
counter equity derivative instruments.

- Financing Services: providing hedge fund and institutional

. clients with a fully integrated platform for financing
transactions. In addition, the Company executes and clears
exchange-traded equity derivatives.

Foreign Exchange, Rates and Credit

Foreign Exchange, Rates and Credit ('FRC') provides execution

services-and solutions with an emphasis on electronic trading

and maintaining high levels of balance sheet velocity. The main
business lines are:

- Foreign Exchange: helping clients manage their currency
exposures’

- Rates and Credit: providing sales, trading and market-making
in a selected range of rates and credit products. In addition,
FRC works closely with Corporate Client Solutions, providing
support to the debt capital markets businesses and tailoring

" customized financing solutions for clients.

UBS Securities Research

UBS Securities Research clients are offered key insights on
securities in major financial markets around the globe. In our
flagship Q series reports, experts from across the UBS research
team responds to questions from clients, providing a
coordinated perspective across regions, sectors and asset classes.

Corporate Center

Corporate Center activity in the Company comprises Group
Asset and Liability Management (Group ALM) and the Non-core
and Legacy portfolio. Group ALM is responsible for managing
the Company's liquidity and funding position, as well as
providing balance sheet and capital management services to the
Company. The Non-core and Legacy portfolio is comprised of
the non-core businesses and legacy positions that were part of
the Investment Bank prior to its restructuring in 2012. Non-core
and Legacy's positions are managed and exited over time.

Operating Model

In 2016, the Company continued with its business operating
model of retaining and managing the majority of its market risk
in relation to. the over the counter (OTC) derivative positions of
the Investment Bank business of the Company. The Company
continues to transfer the market risk arising from the remainder
of the derivatives portfolio within the Investment Bank to UBS
AG, where the risk is managed. The market risk of positions
within the Non-core and Legacy business continues to be
transferred to, and managed in, UBS AG.

.

Results review

The profit on ordinary activities, before tax, for the year
amounted to £197 million (2015:£189 million). 'After a net tax
expense of £171m (2015: tax benefit of £52m), the Company
made a profit of £26 million for the year (2015:£241 million).

Following the payment of an interim dividend of £199m, a
£13m payment of interest on other equity instruments and
£16m of retained earnings arising from the Italian Branch
merger, the Company retained profits at 31 December 2016 of
£226 million (2015:£396 million). .

Profit for the year reflects the business operating model, with
the Company’'s revenues and expenses largely generated from
its Cash Equities business and the Advisory, Equity Capital
Markets (ECM) and Debt Capital Markets (DCM) businesses
within Corporate Client Solutions. The Company's revenues
include fees generated from UBS AG in relation to market access
provided to UBS AG. i

The 2016 results include a £126 million downward
revaluation of deferred tax assets recognized in respect of tax
losses carried forward. Details are provided in Note 9: Deferred
tax assets.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Details of the risk management principles adopted by the
Directors are provided in Note 33: Risk, treasury and capital
management. As an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of UBS
Group AG the Company operates in line with UBS AG and UBS
Group AG policies, including environmental and ethical
standards. '

Following the result of the June 2016 referendum on the
UK's membership in the EU, the UK Prime Minister, Theresa
May, invoked Article 50 of the Treaty of European Union on the
29th March 2017. This has triggered a two-year period, which is
subject to extension, during which the UK will negotiate its
withdrawal agreement with the EU. Barring any changes to this
time schedule, it is expected that the UK will formally leave the
EU in early 2019. The future of the UK's relationship with the EU
remains unclear, although the UK government has stated that
the UK will leave the EU single market and will seek a phased
period of implementation for the new relationship that could
cover the legal and regulatory framework for the financial
services industry. Any future limitations on providing financial
services into the,EU from the Company could require potentially
significant changes to its operations and legal structure.
Potential effects of a UK exit from the EU and potential
mitigating actions may vary considerably depending on the
timing of withdrawal and the nature of any transition or
successor arrangements. ’



Going concern

For the purposes of the revised guidance, to Directors of UK
companies issued in 2009 by the UK Financial Reporting Council
on Going Concern and Liquidity Risk, the Directors have, on the
basis of their assessment of the Company’s financial position
and of the enquiries made of the Parent and UBS AG,
reasonably concluded that the Company will be able to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the Directors shall continue to adopt the going concern basis in
the preparation of its financial statements.

Key performance indicators

The Parent and UBS AG maintain an oversight of the Company’s
performance under the respective divisional business and
governance management structures. The Directors are satisfied
that during the year the Company’s business has operated and
performed satisfactory in a challenging environment. The
Directors actively monitor the Company's financial soundness
including compliance with regulatory limits. The position of the
Company is measured against daily capital and liquidity metrics
and limits and is evaluated against the Board approved 3 year
financial plan.

Governance

As a subsidiary. of the Parent, the Company operates within the
framework of the broader UBS Group as regards business
strategy, resources' and overall policy and governance
framework. The Company is governed by its Board of Directors
and a framework of Committees, including Audit, Nomination,
Remuneration and Risk Committees, an Executive Committee,
and an Asset and Liability Committee. The Board of Directors
comprises four Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman,
and four Executive Directors, including the Chief Executive,
Finance Director and Chief Operating Officer.

The Board comprises 37.5% of females, and continued to
achieve its target of at-least 25 per cent representation of
females on the Board throughout the year.

The UBSL Nomination Committee reviewed the operation of
the Board and of its committee governance, and reported to
the Board on 15 December 2016. The review concluded that
these bodies were operating appropriately within their respective
remits. '

Future developments
The Company is considering opportunities for further expansion

of its European-branch network which may involve combining
with the business of local UBS subsidiaries in such locations.

Pillar 3 Supplementary Disclosures

The Pillar 3 Supplementary Disclosures for the Company,
including risk management objectives and policies, Board
biographies, remuneration policy and corporate structure details,
can be found on the UBS Group AG website under 'Disclosure
for Legal Entities', accessible through .the Investor Relations
pages on the UBS Group AG homepage: www.ubs.com.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2017 and
signed by:

ndrea Orcel
Chief Executive
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their Report together with the audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2016 ("the year") which have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Strategic report

In accordance with the provisions of Section 414A of the
Companies Act 2006, the Directors have prepared a Strategic
Report complying with the provisions of Section 414C of the
Companies Act 2006.. The Strategic Report which is included
with this Report and the audited Financial Statements for the
year also covers matters relating to the Company's future
developments and its network of European branches and
representative offices. ’

Dividends

The Directors paid an interim dividend for the year amounting to
£199m on 17 November 2016 (2015: £nil). The Directors do
not recommend the declaration of a final dividend in respect of
the year (2015: £nil).

Directors

The names of the current Directors are shown on page 4.

During the year there was one appointment to, and one
departure from, the Board. On 31 March 2016 The Rt. Hon.
Patricia J Scotland, QC resigned as a Non-Executive Director of
the Company in order to take up her new appointment as the
Commonwealth Secretary-General on 1 April 2016. Ms Miryam
(Miriam) M Gonzéalez Durantez' was appointed as a Non-
Executive Director on 6 September 2016.

Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report,
Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements in accordance
with applicable United Kingdom law and regulations.

" Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial
Statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have elected to prepare the Financial Statements in accordance
with those International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs).

Under company law the Directors must not approve the
Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of

the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are
required to:

- select suitable accountlng policies in accordance W|th IAS 8:

. Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors and then apply them consistently;

= present fairly the financial positions, financial performance
_and cash flows of the Company;

- present information, including accounting policies,
manner that provides relevant,
understandable information;

— provide additional disclosures when compliance with the
specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular.transactions, other events
and conditions on the Company's financial position and
financial performance;

- make judgments and accounting estimates
reasonable;

- state that the Company has complied with the IFRSs; and

- Prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business.

in a
reliable, comparable and

that are

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Company and enable
them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

Disclosure of information to auditors

Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report and

Audited Financial Statements has confirmed that:

—so far as he/she is aware, there was no relevant audit
information of which the Auditors were unaware; and

- he/she has taken all the steps they ought to have taken as a
Director in order to make himself/herself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Auditors
have been made aware of that information.

I3



2006 ("the Act"), shall continue in office in accordance with
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in Section 487 of the Act or, if annual general meetings are
accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the continued with, until the conclusion of the next annual general
Companies Act 2006. meeting and in which case a resolution of their re-appointment
- will be proposed.

Risk information on use of financial Instruments '
Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2017 and

Pleasé refer to Note 33: Risk, treasury and capital management signed on their behalf by:
in the attached Financial Statements.

Political contributions
There were no charitable donations nor any contributions for

political purposes made by the Company during the year (2015:
nil). ] .

Important Post Balance Sheet Events . ' : :
Please refer to Note 34: Events occurring after the balance sheet &kma’m\’\

\

date in the attached Financial Statements.

Auditors hn'S Mitchell-Hewson

Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered Accountants and Registered
Auditor, .have indicated their willingness to continue in offig
and, in the event the Company dispenses with the holding of 5 Broadgate, London EC2M 2QS
annual general meetings, as permitted. by the Companies Act »



UBS Limited | Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

Independent Auditor's report to the members

of UBS Limited

We have audited the financial statements of UBS Limited for the
year ended 31 December 2016 which comprise the Income
Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Balance Sheet, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the
Statement of Cash Flow and the related notes 1 to 35. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

This report is made solely to the company’'s-members, as a
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other
purpose.
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’'s members as a body, .for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement set out on page 8, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being

satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is -

to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply
with the -Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financia! statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This
includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are

10

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not.

appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been
consistently  applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the

directors; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-
financial information in the Annual Report and Financial

Statements to identify material inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2016 and of its profit for the year then
ended;

- have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union; and

— have been prepared in accordance'with the requirements of

the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act
2006 '

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of

the audit: '

- the information given in the Strategic Report and the
Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the frnancral
statements.

- the Strateglc Report and the Directors’ Report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements;



' Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In light of the knowledge and understanding of thé Company
and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
have identified no material misstatements in the Strategic Report
" or Directors' Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters

where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,

in our opinion:

— adequate accountnng records have not been kept, or returns
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or '

— the financial statements are not in agreement with the

accounting records and returns; or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law
are not made; or

— we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit.

L@ Yo

" lan Baggs (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Audttor
London, 30 March 2017 e

Notes:

- The maintenance and integrity of the UBS AG web site is the
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the
auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and,
accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements
since they were initially presented on the web site.

— Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions. .

1"
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Income statement for the year ended"
31 December 2016

Income statement

GBP millon ’ . : Notes  31.122016 _31.12.2015
Interest and similar income 2 409 289
“Interest and similar expense - C— P (334) "(289)
Net interest income : 15 g -
.Cre.d‘i'l Ioss (expense)/recovery ) l 4 (2) 2 )

4 13 2

Net interest income after credit loss expense

Net fee and commission income

Total nperatlng income
Personnel expenses

Total operating expenses
Profit before Tax

Taxation ) - : o
Profit for the financial year

Note: All activities in current/prior year were continuing

.

The notes on pages 17 to 84 form an integral part of the financial statements.

12



Statement of other comprehensive income
for year ended 31 December 2016

Statement of other comprehensive income .
GBP million . 31.12.16 31.12.15
Net profit . . 26 241
Other comprehensive income

- Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to the income statement

- ()
Total other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to the income statement : - - (S}
Total comprehensive income * . ; ) y 26 236

The notes on pages 17 to 84 form an integral part of the financial statements.

13
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Balance sheet as at December 2016

Balance sheet

. 31.12.15
GBP million Notes 31.12.16 (restated)
Assets '
Cash and Dalances With COMTBIDANKS || o oeeoseoesesssssresressssetscossseseseessseesssses s esss e s sese s s s s st e e 3 ememnessesiseons 3,
Due fiom banks ettt e e LI L Bai
"Cash collateral on securities borrowed! i B3 2,799 3,047
Reverse repurchase ayreements S ERER) I 1.}
Trading.portfolio assets ' . e 15 4,737 3,770
of which: assets pledged as collateral which may be sold or repledged by counterparties . 25 3,038 2,462
Positive replacement values ’ 16 17,451 17,668
Cash collateral receivable on derivative ins.f;h'r‘r‘lents R 13 6,490 6,027
Loans and advances to customers S 12 1,054 .IN
Financial assets designated at fair value e 18 3,931 666
Other amounts due from group UNENtakings _...vevrsesvssreesre EAN—— 22 19
Financial investments available-for-sale o 17 123 3,163
Other assets 9. 114 169
Deferred tax assets 9 A 172
. Total assets' ) ~ 40,663 39,442
Liabilities
Due to banks

Cash collateral on securities lent!
Repurchase agreements
Trading portfolio liabilities

ment values
Cash collateral payable on derivative in.

_Othy owed to group undertakings . 31 116

..... B 158

Tax provision " 34

Provisions ) ) I

Total liabilities! 37,789

Equity

Share capital . 29 7 227

o pre"r;l'i.l:l.r.n ................. : X S
Revaluation reserve e B 2 ok
Retained earings et et e e 26 39
Other eQUItY INSHUMIENNS e csmeessmsssmesmoss e e : 239 B3
Total equity . ] S : : 2,874 3,042

Total liabilities and equity 40,663 39,442

1" Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed and lent has been restated downwards by £664m. Refer to Note 1b for more information.

These Financial Statements for UBS Limited (CRN: 2035362) were approved by the Directors on 30 March 2017 and signed on their
behalf by:

30 March 2017

" The notes on pages 17 to 84 form an integral part of the financial statements.

14



Statement of changes in equity
for year ended 31 December 2016

Statement of changes in equity

: Total

Revaluation Retained Other equity  shareholders’

GBP million Share Capital  Share premium. reserve " earnings instruments funds
Balance as of 1 January 2015 227 3123 6 242 615 4,212

Profit for the year -

Other comprehensive income

Total Comprehensive income -

Capita! reduction

Dividends

Balance as of 31 December 2015 227 2,184 1 235 3,042

S s . o
Other cor.ﬁ.prehensive icome T mmmmm——— i 1

Total Comprehensive income 7 i : %
ItahanBranchMerger ........................... - . e
" Interest on other equity instruments Jrmmmm—— - - (13)
L i : : . “99)

Balance as of 31 December 2016 Cmmmm——— 227 2,184 2 235 2,874

The notes on pages 17 to 84 form an integral part of the financial statements.

15
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Statement of cash ﬂows for the year ended
31 December 2016

~ Statement of cash flows

» - 31.12.15
GBP million . . . .31.12.16 (restated)
Profit before tax 197 © 189
Cash flow from / (used in) operating activities 1

Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to cash flow from / (used in) operating activities

Non-cash items included in profit before tax and other adjustments:

Net loss / (gam) from investing activities . ) . . - 9)

Net (increase) / decrease in operating assets and liabilities

Net due from / to banks

Reverse repurchase agreements and cash collateral on securities borrowed?

Trading portfolio, net replacement values and financial assets designated at fair value . ' (3,123)

Loans/due to customers mmm—_ (108)

Accrued income, prepaid expenses and other assets A ) : 1

Repurchase agreements and cash collatm. ecurit Crmmm——,———  em—, —"—"" (324)

Cash collateral on derivative instruments (276)

Accrued exper;.s.e“s"a‘}ld other liabilities L mmmmm—m—— 52

e e A a0 . G5

Net cash flow from / {used in) operating activities : (3,351)

Cash flow from / (used in) investing activities

Net (investment in) / divestment of financial investments available-for-sale 3,040 2,349

Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities . 3,040 2,349

Cash flow from / (used in) financing activities )

Capital |ssuancel (reduc(lon) L : - (1,319)
13) 36)

o ' . (5% ' (51)

Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities - - ’ (212) (1,406)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ’ . (523) (1,143)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year T N 1,650 2,793“

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year ) ' 1,127 1,650

Cash and cash equivalents comprise )

Cash and balances with central banks L mmmmm——— 3

Due frombankswnh original maturity of Iessthan thee months e 1,054 ..8.41”

o market oo - ................... .“ & 804

Total 1,127 1,650

1 Money market paper is included within financial assets measured at fair value on the balance sheet. 2 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed and lent has been restated downwards by £664m Refer
to Note 1b for more information.



Notes to the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2016

Note 1: Accounting policies

a) Significant accounting policies

- The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) of UBS
Limited ("the Company”) are described in this note. These
policies have been applied consistently in all years presented
unless otherwise stated.

Basis of accounting
The Financial Statements have been prepared on an historical
cost basis except for the valuation of financial instruments and
derivatives, which account for a significant proportion of the
balance sheet. This is in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS).

The Company has adopted all the standards, interpretations
and amendments effective for the year ended 31 December
2016. The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has
issued various standards, interpretations and amendments that
are not yet effective and therefore have not yet been adopted by
the Company.

Pounds sterhng is the functlonal currency of the Company
which is the ‘currency of the primary economic environment in
which the Company operates and the currency in which these

Financial Statements are presented. The Company continues to .

adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of its financial
statements. )

Critical accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

Preparation of these Financial Statements under IFRS requires
management to apply judgment and make estimates and
assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, and may involve significant uncertainty at the time
they are made. Such estimates and assumptions are based on
the best available information. The Company regularly reassesses
the estimates and assumptions, which encompass historical
experience, expectations of the future and other pertinent
factors, to determine their continuing relevance based on
current conditions and it updates them as necessary. Changes in
those estimates and assumptions may have a significant impact

on the Financial Statements. Further, actual results may differ -

significantly from Company's estimates, which could result in
significant loss to the Company, beyond what it anticipated or
provided for.

The following areas contain estimation uncertainty or require

critical judgment and have a significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the Financial Statements:

Note 8 Taxation, Note 14 Allowances and provisions for credit
losses, Note 22 Provisions and Note 24 Fair value measurement.

Consolidation

The Company assessed whether to consolidate other entities on
the basis of control, which exist when it has (i) power over the
relevant activities of the entity, (i) exposure to an entity's
variable returns and (iii) the ability to use its power to affect an
entity’s returns.

Where an entity is governed by voting rights, control .is
generally indicated by a direct shareholdlng of more than one-
half of the voting rights.

As of 31 December 2016 the Company did not consolidate
any entities, including structured entities.

Structured entities (SE)

SEs are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar
rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the
entity, such as when any voting rights relate only -to
administrative tasks and the relevant activities are directed by
means of contractual arrangements. The Company assesses
whether an entity is. an SE by considering the nature of the
activities of the entity as well as the substance of voting or
similar rights afforded to other parties, including investors and
independent boards or directors. The Company considers rights
such as the ability to liquidate the entity or remove the decision
maker to be similar to voting rights when the holder has the
substantive ability to exercise such rights without cause. In the
absence of such rights or in cases where the existence of such
rights cannot be fully established, the entlty is considered to be
an SE.

The Company interacts with SEs for a variety of reasons
including allowing clients to obtain or be exposed to particular
risk profiles, to provide funding or to sell or purchase credit risk.
Many SEs are established as bankruptcy remote, meaning that
only the assets in the SE are available for the benefit of the SE's
investors and such investors have no other recourse to the
Company. Where the Company acts purely as an advisor,
administrator or placement agent for an SE created by a third
party entity, it is not considered to be sponsored by the
Company.

Each individual entity is assessed for consolldatlon in line with
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the consolidation principles described above, considering the

nature and scope of the Company’s involvement. When the

Company does not consolidate an SE but has an interest in an

SE, additional disclosures are provided in Note 32 on the nature

of these interests. The classes of SEs UBS Limited is involved with

include the following: . )

- Securitization structured entities are established to issue
securities to investors that are backed by assets held by the SE

vy and whereby (i) significant credit risk associated with the
securitized exposures has been transferred to third parties
and (ii) there is more than one risk position or tranche issued
by the securitization vehicle in line with the Basel Il
securitization  definition. Al securitization entities are
classified as SEs.

- Client” investment structured entities are established
predominantly for clients to invest in specific assets or risk
exposures through purchasing notes issued by the 'SE,
predominantly on a fixed-term basis.

- Investment fund structured entities have a collective
investment objective, are managed by an investment
manager and are either passively managed, such that any
decision-making does not have a substantive effect on
variability, or are actively managed and- investors or their
governing bodies do not have substantive voting or similar
rights. '

Recognition and de-recognition of financial instruments

The Company recognizes financial instruments on its balance
sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. Unless the recognition criteria are
satisfied, these assets and the related income are excluded from
. UBS Limited's Financial Statements, as they are not assets of the
Company.

Client cash balances associated with derivatives clearing and
execution services are not recognized on the balance sheet if,
through contractual agreement, regulation. or practice, the
Company neither obtains benefits from nor controls the client
cash balances. :

Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset, or a portion of a
financial asset, from its balance sheet where the contractual
rights to cash flows from the asset have expired, or have been

transferred, usually by sale, thus exposing the purchaser to:

either substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or a
significant part of the risks and rewards combined with the
unconditional ability to sell or pledge the asset.

The Company enters into certain transactions where it transfers
financial assets recognized on its balance sheet but retains either
all or a portion of the risks and rewards of the transferred
financial assets. If all or substantially all of the risks and rewards
are retained, the transférred financial assets are not
derecognized from the balance sheet. Transactions where
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transfers of financial assets result in the Company retaining all or
substantially all risks and rewards include securities lending and
repurchase transactions. ) :

In transactions where substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of a financial asset are neither retained nor
transferred, UBS Limited derecognizes the financial asset if
control over the asset is surrendered. The rights and obligations
retained following the transfer are recognized separately as
assets and liabilities, respectively. .

Where financial assets have been pledged as collateral or
in similar arrangements, they are considered to have been
transferred if the counterparty has received the contractual right
to the cash flows of the pledged assets, as may be evidenced,
for example, by the counterparty’s right to sell or repledge the
assets. Where the counterparty to the pledged financial assets
has not received the contractual right to the cash flows, the
assets are considered pledged, but not transferred. Certain over-
the-counter (OTC) derivative contracts and most exchange-
traded futures and options contracts cleared through central
clearing counterparties are considered to be settled on a daily
basis through the daily margining process, as the payment or
receipt of the variation margin represents legal or economic
settlement of a derivative contract, which results in derecogntion
of the associated positive and negative replacement values.

For the purposes of the Company's disclosures of transferred
financial assets, a financial asset is typically considered to have
been transferred when the Company a) transfers the contractual
rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset or b) retains
the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of that asset, but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flpws to one or
more entities. Refer to Note 25: Restricted and transferred
financial assets for more information.

_ Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability from its balance
sheet when it is extinguished, i.e., when the obligation specified
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or has expired. When an
existing financial liability is exchanged for a new one from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability with any difference
in the respective carrying amounts being recognized in the
income statement.

Refer to Note 27: Financial assets and liabilities — additional
information.

Securities borrowing / lending and repurchase / reverse

‘repurchase transactions

Securities borrowing / lending and repurchase / reverse
repurchase transactions are generally entered into on a
collateralized basis. In such transactions, the Company typically
borrows or lends equity and debt securities in exchange for
securities or cash collateral. '
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derivatives in their entirety generally are presented on the
balance sheet as Positive replacement values or Negative
replacement values. The trading portfolio includes recognized
assets and liabilities relating to proprietary, hedging and client-
related business. )

Trading portfolio assets include debt instruments (including
those in the form of securities, money market paper and traded
corporate and bank loans), equity instruments, assets held under
unit-linked contracts and precious metals and other commodities
owned by the Company (“long” positions). Trading portfolio
liabilities include obligations to deliver financial instruments such
as debt and equity instruments which the Company has sold to
- third parties but does not own ("short" positions).

Assets and liabilities in the trading portfolio are measured at
fair value. Gains and losses realized on disposal or redemption of
these assets and liabilities and unrealized gains and losses from
changes in the fair value of these assets and liabilities are
reported as Net trading income. Interest and dividend income
and expense on these assets and liabilities are included in
Interest and dividend income or Interest and dividend expense.

The Company uses settlement date accounting when
recognizing assets and liabilities in the trading portfolio. From
the date a purchase transaction is entered into (trade date) until
settlement date, the Company recognizes any unrealized profits
and losses arising from re-measuring the transaction to fair value
in Net trading income. The corresponding receivable or payable
is presented on the balance sheet as a Positive replacement
value or Negative replacement values, respectively. On
settlement date, the resulting financial asset is recognized on the
balance sheet at the fair value of the consideration given or
received, plus or minus the change in fair value of the contract
since the trade date. From the trade date of a sales transaction,
unrealized profits and losses are no longer recognized and, on
settlement date, the asset is derecognized.

Trading portfolio assets transferred to external parties that do
not qualify for derecognition and where the transferee has
obtained the right to sell ‘or repledge the assets continue to be
classified on the Company's balance sheet as Trading portfolio
assets but are identified as Assets pledged as collateral which
may be sold or repledged by counterparties. Such assets
continue to be measured at fair value.

Refer to Note 15: Trading portfolio for more information.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss .
A financial instrument may only be designated at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition and this
designation cannot be changed subsequently. financial assets
and financial liabilities designated at fair value are presented on
separate lines on the face of the balance sheet. The fair value
option can be applied only if one of the following criteria is met:
- the financial instrument is a hybrid instrument which includes
a substantive embedded derivative;
- the financial instrument is part of a portfolio which is risk
managed on a fair value basis and reported to senior
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management on that basis or _

- the application of the fair value option eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise.

The fair value option is applied to certain loans and loan
commitments, otherwise accounted for at amortized cost, which
are hedged predominantly with credit derivatives. The
application of the fair value option to the loans and loan
commitments reduces an accounting mismatch, as the credit
derivatives are accounted for as derivative instruments at fair
value through profit or loss. Similarly, the Company has applied

-the fair value option to certain structured loans and reverse

repurchase and securities borrowing agreements which are part
of portfolios managed on a fair value basis.

Fair value changes related to financial instruments designated
at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in Net trading
income. Interest income and interest expense on financial assets
and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognized in interest income on financial assets designated at
fair value or Interest expense on financial liabilities designated at
fair value, respectively. : .

The Company applies the same recognition and
derecognition principles to financial instruments designated at
fair value as to financial instruments in the trading portfolio.

Refer to Notes 18 and 21 for more information on Financial
assets and liabilities designated at fair value.

Financial investments classified as available-for-sale

Financial investments classified as available-for-sale are non-
derivative financial assets that are not classified as held for
trading, designated at fair value through profit or loss, or loans
and receivables. They are recognized on a settlement date basis.

Financial investments classified as available-for-sale include
debt securities held as part of the multi-currency portfolio of
unencumbered, high-quality, short-term assets managed
centrally by Treasury and strategic equity investments.

Financial investments classified as available-for-sale are
recognized initially at fair value less transaction costs and are
measured subsequently at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses
are reported in other comprehensive income , net of applicable
income taxes, until such investments are sold, collected or
otherwise disposed of, or until any such investment is
determined to be impaired. Unrealized gains before tax are
presented separately from unrealized losses before tax in Note
17: Financial investments classified as available-for-sale.

For monetary instruments (such as debt securities), foreign
exchange translation gains and losses determined by reference
to the instrument’'s amortized cost basis -are recognized in Net
trading income. Foreign exchange translation gains and losses
related to other changes in fair value are recognized in Other
comprehensive income. Foreign exchange translation gains and
losses associated with non-monetary instruments (such as equity
securities) are part of the overall fair value change of the
instruments and are recognized directly in Other comprehensive



income. :

Interest and dividend income on financial investments
classified as available-for-sale are included in Interest and
dividend income from financial investments available-for-sale.
Interest income is determined by reference to the instrument's
amortized cost basis using the effective interest rate (EIR).

On disposal of an investment, any related accumulated
unrealized gains or losses included in Equity are transferred to
the Income statement and reported in Other income. Gains or
losses on disposal are determined using the average cost
method.

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether
indicators of impairment are present for financial investments
classified as available-for-sale. A financial investment classified
as available-for-sale is impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the investment, the estimated future cash
flows from the investment have decreased. A significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of a financial investment
classified as available-for-sale equity instrument below its
original cost is considered objective evidence of an impairment.
In the event of a significant decline in fair value below its original
cost (20%) or a prolonged decline (six months), an impairment is
recorded unless facts and circumstances clearly indicate that this
information, on its own, is not evidence of an impairment.

For debt investments, objective evidence of impairment
includes significant financial difficulty for the issuer or
counterparty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, or it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganization. If a financial investment
classified as available-for-sale is determined to be impaired, the
related cumulative net unrealized loss previously recognized in
Other comprehensive income within Equity is reclassified to the
income statement within Other income. For equity instruments,
any further loss is recognized directly in the income statement,
whereas for debt instruments, any further loss is recognized in
the income statement only if there is additional objective
evidence of impairment.. After the recognition of an impairment
on a financial investment available-for-sale, increases in the fair
value of equity instruments are reported in Other comprehensive
income within Equity and increases in the fair value of debt
instruments up to amortized cost in original currency are
recognized in Other income, provided that the fair value increase
is related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recorded. '

The Company applies the same recognition and
derecognition principles to financial investments classified as
available-for-sale as to financial instruments in the trading
portfolio, except that unrealized gains and losses between trade
date and settlement date are recognized in other comprehensive
income rather than in the income statement.

Refer to Note 17: Financial investments classified as avallable-
for-sale for more information.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market, not classified as held-for-trading, not designated as at
fair value through profit and loss or available-for-sale, and are
not assets for which the Company may not recover substantially
all of its initial. net investment, other than because of a credit
deterioration. Financial assets classified as loans and receivables
include:
- originated loans where fundihg is provided directly to the
borrower;
— participation in a loan from another lender and purchased
loans; '
— securities which are classified as loans and receivables at
acquisition date
Loans and receivables are recognized when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument,
which is when funding is advanced to borrowers. They are
recorded initially at fair value, based on the amount provided to
originate or purchase the loan or receivable, together with any
transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the EIR
method, less allowances for credit losses. ‘

Interest on loans and receivables is included in Interest earned

" on loans and advances and is recognized on an accrual basis.

Upfront fees and direct costs. relating to loan origination,
refinancing or restructuring as well as to loan commitments are
generally deferred and amortized to Interest earned on loans
and advances over the life of the loan using the EIR method. For
loan commitments that are not expected to result in a loan .
being advanced, the fees are recognized in Net fee and
commission income over the commitment period. For loan
syndication fees where the Company does not retain a portion
of the syndicated loan, or where the ‘Company does retain a
portion of the syndicated loan at the same effective yield for
comparable risk as other participants, fees are credited to Net
fee and commission income when the services have been
provided.

Allowances and provisions for credit losses
An allowance or provision for credit losses is established if there
is objective evidence that the Company will be unable to collect
all amounts due (or the equivalent thereof) on a claim based on
the original contractual terms due to credit deterioration of the
issuer or counterparty. A “claim” means a loan or receivable
carried at amortized cost, or a commitment such as a letter of
credit, a guarantee, or another similar instrument. Objective
evidence of impairment includes significant financial difficulty for
the issuer or counterparty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, or it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization.

An allowance for credit losses is reported as a reduction. of
the carrying value of a claim on the balance sheet. For an off-
balance-sheet item, such as a commitment, a provision for credit
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loss is .reported in Provisions. Changes to allowances and
provisions for credit losses are recognized as Credit loss expense/
recovery.

Allowances and provisions for credit Iosses are evaluated at
both a counterparty-specific level and collectively based on the
following principles:

Counterparty-specific: A loan is considered impaired when
management determines that it is probable that the Company
will not be able to collect all amounts due (or the equivalent
value thereof) based on the original contractual terms. Individual
credit exposures are evaluated based on the borrower’s
‘character, overall financial condition and capacity, resources and
payment record, the prospects for support from any financially
responsible guarantors and, where applicable, the realizable
value of any collateral. The estimated recoverable amount is the
present value, calculated using the claim's original EIR, of
expected future cash flows including amounts that may result
from restructuring or the liquidation of collateral. if a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate used for calculating the
recoverable amount is the current EIR. Impairment is measured
and allowances for credit losses are established based on the
difference between the carrying amount and the estimated
recoverable amount. Upon impairment, the accrual of interest
income based on the original terms of the loan is discontinued.
The increase of the present value of the impaired loan due to
the passage of time is reported as Interest income.

All impaired loans are reviewed and analyzed at least
annually. Any subsequent changes to the amounts and timing of
the expected future cash flows compared with prior estimates
result in a change in the allowance for credit losses and are
charged or credited to Credit loss expense / recovery. An
allowance for impairment is reversed only when the credit
quality has improved to such an extent that there is reasonable
assurance of timely collection of principal and interest in
accordance with the original contractual terms of the claim, or
the equivalent value thereof. A write-off is made when all or
part of a claim is deemed uncollectible or forgiven. Write-offs
reduce the principal amount of a claim and are charged against
previously established allowances for credit losses or, if no
allowance has been established previously, directly to Credit loss
expense / recovery. Recoveries, in part or in full, of amounts
previously written off are credited to Credit loss expense /
recovery.

Collectively: All Ioans for which no impairment is identified at
a counterparty-specific level are grouped on the basis of the
Company’s internal credit grading system that considers credit
risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical
location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant
factors, to collectively assess whether impairment exists within a
portfolio. Future cash flows for a group of financial assets that
are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the
basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to
reflect the effects of current conditions of the group of financial
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assets on which the historical loss experience is based and to .
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do
not exist currently in the portfolio. Estimates of changes in
future cash flows for the group of financial assets reflect, and
are directionally consistent with, changes in related observable
data from year to year. The methodology and assumptions used
for estimating future cash flows for the group of financial assets
are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss
estimated and actual loss experience. Allowances from collective
assessment of impairment are recognized as Credit loss
expense/recovery and result in an offset to the aggregated loan
position. As the allowance cannot be allocated to individual
loans, the loans are not considered to be impaired and interest is
accrued on each loan according to its contractual terms. If
objective evidence becomes available that indicates that an
individual financial asset is impaired, it is removed from the
group of financial assets assessed for impairment on a collective
basis and is assessed separately as a counterparty specific claim.

Refer to Note 14: Allowances and provisions for more
information. :

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date the
derivative contract is entered into and are remeasured
subsequently to fair value.

Derivative instruments are generally reported on the balance
sheet as Positive replacement values or Negative replacement
values.

Foreign currencies )
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into
the functional currency of the Company at the spot exchange
rate on the date of the transaction. At the balance sheet date,
all monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currency are translated to the functional currency -using the
closing exchange rate.

Foreign exchange differences on financial investments
available-for-sale are recorded directly in Equity until the asset is

" sold or becomes impaired, with the exception of translation

differences on the amortized cost of monetary financial
investments available-for-sale which are reported in Net trading
income, along with all other foreign exchange differences on
monetary assets and liabilities. ‘

Upon consolidation, assets and I|ab|l|t|es of foreign operations
are translated into pound sterling (GBP), UBS Limited's
presentation currency, at the closing exchange rate on the
balance sheet date, and income and expense items are
translated at the average rate for the period. The resulting
foreign currency transtation differences are recognized directly in
foreign currency translation reserve within Equity.

°



Loan commitments
Loan_commitments are defined amounts (unutilized credit lines
or undrawn portions of credit lines) against which clients can
borrow money under defined terms and conditions.

Loan commitments that can be cancelled by the Company at

any time (without giving a reason) according to their general’

terms and conditions, are not recognized on the balance sheet

and are not included in the off-balance-sheet disclosures. Upon

a loan drawdown by the counterparty, the amount of the loan is

accounted for in accordance with Loans and advances to

customers.

Irrevocable loan commitments (where the Company has no
right to withdraw the loan commitment once communicated to
- the beneficiary, or which are revocable only due to automatic
cancellation upon deterioration in a borrower’s creditworthiness)
are classified into the following categories: .

— derivative loan commitments, being loan commitments that
can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another
financial instrument, or loan commitments for which there is
evidence of selling loans resuiting from similar loan
commitments before or shortly after origination; :

- loan commitments designated at fair value through profit and
loss and . '

- all other loan commitments. These are not recorded in the
balance sheet, but a provision is recognized if it is probable
that a loss has been incurred and a reliable estimate of the

_amount of the obligation can be made. Other loan
commitments include irrevocable forward starting reverse
repurchase and irrevocable securities borrowing agreements.

Any change in the liability relating to these other loan

commitments is recorded in the-income statement in Credit loss

~ expense/recovery.

Other operating income
" Other operating income relates to charges for the provision of
investment banking services to group companies.

Taxation

Corporate income tax payable on profits is recognized as an
expense based on the applicable tax laws in each jurisdiction in
the period in which profits arise. The tax effects of corporation
tax losses available for carry forward are recognized as a
deferred tax asset if it is probable that future taxable profit

(based on profit forecast assumptions) will be available against:

which those losses can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for temporary differences
that will result in deductible amounts in future periods, but only
to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available against which these differences can be utilized.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
balance sheet and their amounts as measured for tax purposes,
which will result in taxable amounts in future periods. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in.the period in which the asset will be

realized or the liability will be settled based on enacted rates at
the balance sheet date. ’

Tax assets and liabilities of the same type (current or deferred)
are offset when they arise from the same tax reporting group,
they relate to the same tax authority, the legal right to offset
exists, and they are intended to be settled net or realized
simultaneously. '

Current and deferred taxes are recognized as a tax benefit or
expense in the income statement except for current and
deferred taxes recognized for unrealized gains or losses on
financial investments available-for-sale, and for certain foreign
currency translations of foreign operations where such taxes are
recognized in other comprehensive income.

Refer to Note 8: Income taxes and Note 9: Deferred tax assets
for more information.

Defined contribution pension plan

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Company pays fixed contributions into a separate- éntity from
which post-employment and other benefits are paid. The
Company has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if the plan does not hold sufficient assets to pay
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. UBS Limited's contributions are
expensed when the employees have rendered services in
exchange for such contributions. This is generally in the year of
contribution. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments
is available. '

Defined benefit pension plans

Defined benefit pension plans specify an amount of benefit that
an employee will receive, which usually depends on one or more
factors, such as age, years of service and compensation. The
defined benefit liability recognized in the balance sheet is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value
of the plan assets (where applicable) at the balance sheet date
with changes resulting from re-measurements recorded
immediately in Other comprehensive income. If the fair value of
the plan assets is higher than the present value of the defined
benefit obligation, the recognition of the resulting net defined
benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan. UBS applies the projected unit
credit method to determine the present value-of its defined
benefit obligations, the related current service cost and, where
applicable, past service cost. The projected unit credit method
sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of
benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build
up the final obligation. These amoéunts, which take into account
the specific features of each plan, including risk sharing between
employee and employer, are calculated periodically by
independent qualified actuaries. ’
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Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount, and are
recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount of the obligation can be made.

The majority of UBS Limited’s provisions relate to litigation,
regulatory and similar matters. Provisions that are similar. in
nature are aggregated to form a class, while the remaining
provisions, including those of less significant amounts, are
presented under Other provisions. ’

The Company recognizes provisions for litigation, regulatory
and similar matters when, in the opinion of management after
seeking legal advice, it is more likely than not that the Company
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past

events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be -

required, and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are recognized at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
balance sheet date. Such estimates are based on all available
information and are revised over time as more information
becomes available. If the effect of the time value of money is
material, provisions are discounted and measured at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle or discharge the
obligation, using a rate that reflects the current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the obligation.

A provision is not recognized when the Company has a
present obligation that has arisen from past events but it is not
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
it, or a sufficiently reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation cannot be made. Instead, a contingent liability is
disclosed. Contingent liabilities are also disclosed for possible
obligafions that arise from past events whose existence will be
confirmed only by uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Company. Refer to Note 22: Provisions for more
information.

Fee income

The Company earns fee income from a diverse range of services
it provides to its clients. Fee income can be divided into two
broad categories: fees earned from services that are provided
over a certain period of time (for example advisory fees) and fees
earned from providing transaction-type services (for example,
underwriting fees, corporate finance fees and brokerage fees).
Fees earned from services that are provided over a certain period
of time are recognized ratably over the service period, with the
exception of performance-linked fees or fee components with
specific performance criteria. Such fees are recognized when the
performance criteria are fulfiled and when collectability is
reasonably assured. Fees earned from providing transaction-type
services are recognized when the service has been completed.
Generally, fees are presented in the income statement in line
with the balance sheet classification of the underlying
instruments.
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“ down,

Loan commitment fees on lending arrangements, where
there is an initial expectation that the facility will be drawn
down, are deferred until the loan is drawn down and are then
recognized as an adjustment to the effective yield over the life of
the loan. If the commitment expires and the loan is not drawn
the fees are recognized as revenue when the
commitment expires. Where the initial expectation that the
facility will be drawn down is remote, the loan commitment fees
are recognized on a straight-line basis over the commitment
period. If, subsequently, the commitment is actually exercised,
the unamortized component of the loan commitment fees are
amortized as an adjustment to the effective yield over the life of
the loan.

- Refer to Note 3: Net fee and commission income for more
information.

Netting
The Company nets financial assets and liabilities on its balance
sheet if: (i) it has the unconditional and legally enforceable right
to set-off the recognized amounts, both in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, bankruptcy or insolvency of
the Company and all of the counterparties, and (ii) intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. Netted positions include, for example,
certain derivatives and repurchase and reverse repurchase
transactions with various counterparties, exchanges and clearing
houses.

In assessing whether the Company intends to either settle on
a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously, emphasis is placed on the effectiveness of
operational settlement mechanics in eliminating substantially all
credit and liquidity exposure between the counterparties. This
condition precludes offsetting on the balance “sheet for
substantial amounts of the Company's financial assets and
liabilities, even though they may be subject to enforceable
netting arrangements. For OTC derivative contracts, balance
sheet offsetting is generally only permitted in circumstances in
which a market settlement mechanism exists via an exchange or
central clearing counterparty, which effectively accomplishes net
settlement through a daily exchange of collateral via a cash
margining process. For repurchase arrangements and securities
financing transactions, balance sheet offsetting may be
permitted only to the extent that the settlement mechanism
eliminates, or results in insignificant, credit and liquidity risk, and
processes the receivables and payables in a single settlement
process or cycle.

Refer to Notes 1b and 26 for more information.

Interest income and expense _
Interest income or expense is determined by reference to a
financial instrument’s amortized-cost basis calculated using the

-effective interest rate (EIR) method. The Company also uses this

method to determine the interest income and expense for
financial instruments (excluding derivatives) measured at fair
value through profit or loss that is presented within ‘Net interest



income.

Interest income on fmancral assets, excluding derlvatlves is
included in Interest income when positive and in Interest
expense when negative, because. negative interest income
arising on a financial asset does not meet the definition of
revenue. Similarly, interest expense on financial liabilities,
excluding derivatives, is included in Interest expense, except
when interest rates are negative, in which case it is included in
Interest income. Dividend income on all financial assets is
included in Interest income.

Refer to Note 2: Net interest and tradmg income for more
information.

b) Changes in accounting policies, comparability and other
adjustments

Interest rate swaps converted to a settlement model

Starting 2016, the Company elected to convert its interest rate
swaps (IRS) transacted with the London Clearing House from. the
previous collateral model to a settlement model. The IRS are
now legally settled on a daily basis resulting in the derecognition
of the associated assets and liabilities. Previously, the Company
applied IAS 32 netting principles to offset the IRS with the
associated variation margin. Gross cash collateral receivables and
payables on derivative instruments and corresponding netting
decreased by £2.6 billion as of 31 December 2016, with no
change to net cash collateral receivables and payables on
derivative instruments recognized on the balance sheet.

Balance sheet classification of newly purchased high-quality
liquid debt securities

Starting 2016, the Company classifies newly purchased debt
securities held as high-quality liquid assets (HQLA), and managed
by Corporate Center — Group Asset and Liability Management
(Group ALM), as financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss. Debt securities acquired prior to 2016 and held for
liquidity purposes remain classified as financial assets available
for sale. The majority of the HQLA debt securities purchased
since the start of 2016 are classified as financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss and are intended
to reduce accounting mismatches by ensuring that changes in
the fair value of the securities are recognized in the income
statement in line with the associated interest rate derivatives
used for risk management purposes.

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and lent

During 2016 it was established that cash collateral on securities
borrowed and securities lent balances were overstated by
£664m for the comparative year, resulting in all affected notes
and disclosures being restated.

¢) International Financial Reporting Standards and
Interpretations to be adopted in 2017 and later

IFRS 9, Financial instruments

In July 2014, the IASB published the final version of IFRS 9,
Financial Instruments. The standard reflects the classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the
IASB's project to replace |AS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except equity instruments,
to be classified at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OC) or fair value through profit or loss,
on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and its contractual cash flow characteristics. If a
financial asset meets the criteria to be measured at amortized
cost or at fair value through OCI, it can be designated at fair
value through profit or loss under the fair value option if doing
so would significantly reduce or eliminate an accounting
mismatch. Equity instruments that are not held for trading may
be accounted for at fair value through OCI, with no subsequent
reclassification of realized gains or losses to the income
statement, while"all other equity instruments will be accounted
for at fair value through profit or loss.

IFRS 9 classification and measurement requirements for
liabilities are unchanged except that any gain or loss arising on a
financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss
that is attributable to changes in the issuer's own credit risk
(own credit) is presented in OCI and not recognized in the

. income statement unless doing so would create an accounting

mismatch, in which case own credit contlnues to be recognized
in the income statement.

IFRS 9 further introduces a forward-looking expected credit
loss (ECL) approach, replacing the incurred loss impairment
approach for financial instruments in IAS 39, and the loss-
provisioning approach for financial guarantees and lending
commitments in 1AS 37, Provisions, contmgent I/ab/lltles and
contingent assets.

The Company will adopt the classification and measurement,

the impairment and the own credit presentation changes on 1

January 2018 in line with the mandatory effective date. The
Company is still assessing whether it will adopt the optional IFRS
9 hedge accounting requirements pending the 1ASB completing
their project on macro hedge accounting strategies. The
Company continues to monitor the potential effects of IFRS 9 on
its regulatory capital requirements, but does not expect any
impact to be material..

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers replacing IAS 18 Revenue. IFRS 15 establishes
principles for revenue recognition that apply to all contracts with
customers except those relating to financial instruments, leases
and insurance contracts and requires an entity to recognize
revenue as performance obligations are satisfied.

In particular, the standard now specifies that variable
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consideration is only recognized to the extent that it is highly
probable that a ‘significant reversal will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

This may affect when certain performance-based and asset-
based fees can be recognized. It also provides guidance on when
revenues and expenses should be presented on a gross or net
basis and establishes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements
for information on the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows from contracts with customers.

The Company will adopt the standard as of its mandatory
effective date on 1 January 2018 and will apply it on a modified
retrospective basis, recognizing the cumulative effect of -initially
applying the standard as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained earnings. The Company continues to assess the
impact of the new standard on its financial statements, but
currently does not expect any material impact on its financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes
In January 2016, the IASB issued narrow scope amendments to
IAS 12, Income Taxes, clarifying how to account for deferred tax
assets related to debt instruments measured at fair value.
Entities are required to apply the amendments for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 subject to EU
~ endorsement.-The Company expects the adoption of the
amendments will not have a material impact on the financial
statements. N
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Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows

In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7.
Statement of Cash Flows, which inter-alia require companies to
provide information about changes in their financial liabilities
arising from financing activities, including ghanges from cash
flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange gains or
losses). The Company will adopt the amendments in the first
quarter of 2017 subject to EU endorsement.

IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration |

in December 2016, the IFRS Interpretations Committee of the
IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 22, Foreign  Currency
Transactions and Advance Consideration, which clarifies that the
date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to apply on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income, is the date on which the entity initially
recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.
Entities are required to apply IFRIC 22 for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Company expects
that the adoption of this IFRS Interpretation will not have a
material impact on its financial statements.



- Note 2 Net interest and trading income

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Net interest income 15 -
..’\.l.e.;‘"ading L W 5
Total net interest and trading income 51 42
Interest income
GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Interest and similar income
.............. i
....... o
..................................... e
st income on assets designated at fair value 45
In eres.t":;ﬁd dividé};a income from financial investments available-for-sale 4
Total ) 409
Interest and similar expense
Interest on amounts due to banks and customers. e mmm——— (85)
In nse on securities financing (137)
In erest an i»./-i.dend expense from trading portfollio (136)
Interest expense on liabilities designated at fair value (36)
Total : (394)
Net interest income/ (expense) / 15 -

1 Includes interest income on securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements and negative interest, including fees, on securities fent and repurchase agreements. 2 Includes interest expense on securities

lent and repurchase agreements and negative interest, including fees, on securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements.

Net trading income

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15

Net trading income 36 42
of which. net gains/{losses) from financial assets designated at fair valve 7 4
(13)

of which: net gains/{losses) from financial liabilities designated at fair value
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-

Note 3 Net fee and commission income

Equity underwriting fees 102 157
e 5 e
Total underwriting fees 201 263
M&A and corporate finance fees ) 125 112
o 0 pos e
Portfolio management and advisory fees 0 1
Insurance-related and other fees L mmmmmmm—— 0 (1)
Total securities trading and investment activity fees 743 681
Credit-related fees and commissions o S ______ 5
Commission income from other services'.2 206 148
Total fee and commission income 1,156 ~ 1,097
Brokerage fees paid O, @12 202
Commission expense from other services':2 (245) (228)
Total fee and commission expense (457) ) (430)
Net fee and commission income 699 667

1 Commission income and Commission expense from other services include £98m received from and £232m paid to other UBS affiliates for services produced or consumed outside of the Company. 2 The
. categorization of commission income and commission expense in 2015 has been restated in line with the improvements made in 2016, where we give transparency to the amounts received from and paid to other

UBS affiliates.

Note 4 Other income , .

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Financial investments available-for-sale
Netgams P di;posals' ....................... ; 5
Other operating income . 7 7
Total 13 17
Note 5 Personnel expenses -

GBP 000's Note 31.12.16 311215
Salaries 8,295 2,143
Compensation g m———————m—m"—————— 8,983 1,775
Contractors L 105 145
P i 3375 pve
Pension plans. .... 28 68 53
Other personn.é'l.expenses .................. o0 647
Total expenses 21,465 5,198

The personnel expenses above relate to the employees in the
italian Branch, Netherlands branch, representative offices, and
the Polish branch which are reported under ‘Personnel expenses’
in the.income statement. There was an average of 62 employees
during the year (2015: 24). :

The Company has 60 employees of its own at year end: 29
are resident in Italy as staff of the Italian branch (2015: Nil). 26
are resident in the Netherlands as staff of the Netherlands
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Branch (2015: 23), 2 are resident in Switzerland (2015: 2) as the
Managers of its Representative Offices and 3 are resident in’
Poland in the Poland Branch (2015: 2). UBS AG Group has
made, and continues to make, available a number of its
employees to be engaged either on a full-time or part-time basis
in the performance of certain® functions or operations in
connection with the Company’s business. ‘



Note 6 General and administrative expenses

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Occupancy . 1. 0
Rent and maint'e'r.\‘ance of IT and other equnpment """"" v 0 3
Administration’ 516 “500
Travel and eme"rtainment ............... 3 2
Professional fees.m ..... 3 2
Communication'qnﬂ market data services 1 0
“Litigation Crmmmm————mmmmnm—mm—nw——n,,,nm,m—n—,—n,,—m—n—w,——,—r 18 277
Total general and administrative expenses 543 533

1 Administration costs in 2016 are mainly balances against other UBS companies

Note 7 Directors’ emoluments

GBP 000's . 31.12.16 31.12.15
Remuneration charged in the Company . 720 682
Additional Diréctors' remuneration in respect of qualifying services borne by UBS AG were as follows:

GBP000's ' 31.12.16 31.12.15
Aggregate remuneration of the Directors for the year 1,520 1,415
Total remuneration of the highest paid Dire.c.tit'a.r ................................ 851

789

The highest paid director did not accrue any pension under the scheme during 2016 or 2015. The table above is prepared based
UBS AG defined benefit pension scheme or any time on
apportioned Employer Defined Benefits under the UBS AG

compensation

awarded for

the performance year.
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Note 8 Income taxes

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Current taxatlon i
Corporation O U O YA ee———— 45 ' 14
Total current tax charge for the year 45 14
DEferred taxatlon .............................................................................
Charge / (credit) for the year SO (66)
Total tax charge / (credit) 171 ' '(52")- .

Factors affecting tax charge for year

The tax provided for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20% (2015: 20.25%). The differences
are explamed below:

GEP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 197 189
Tax charge at 20% (2015: 20.25%)  ......oooee e e e e e L A—. 1
RGO

) /mpaa of bank }urchar_qe

Change in UK taxation rates
Total tax charge / (credit) .

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company is able to offset part of its taxable profits against losses
transferred from UBS AG. During 2016, HM Revenue & Customs indicated that they do not agree with this tax return filing position.
If HM Revenue & Customs ultimately prevailed on this point, the Company would incur a further reduction in recognized deferred
tax assets of approximately £46m, as well as additional current tax expenses for the period from 2014 onwards of approximately

£57m.

Note 9 Deferred tax assets

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
At beginning of the year 172 106
‘e cinge) 0 came statement o e e e ) N - A -
L ; -
At end of the year 47 172

OIS
Tl G i it
Other temporary differences o mmmmmmmmmm—m—m—m—— 1 -
Total deferred tax assets 47 172

The Company has recognized a deferred tax asset of £47
million (2015: £172 million) in relation to UK tax losses carried
forward and other temporary differences and this is based on
expected _profitability using business plan assumptions  as
adjusted to take into account the recognition criteria of 1AS 12,
Income Taxes. A deferred tax asset has not been recognized in
respect of UK.tax losses carried forward of approximately £1,780
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million (2015: £1,200 million), being a figure that is still subject
to agreement by HM Revenue & Customs (note 8 refers). The UK
tax losses are not subject to expiry and can be carried forward
indefinitely. The proportion of banks’ annual taxable profits that
can be offset by UK tax losses carried forward has changed from
50% to 25% effective 1 April 2016. The effect of this change is
reflected in the current and deferred tax charges for the year. -



Note 10 Auditor's remuneration

During the year, fees of £544 thousand (2015: £544 thousand)
in connection with the audit of the Company's annual Financial
Statements and £220 thousand (2015: £123 thousand) in
connection with audit related assurance services and no fees

‘Note 11 Bank levy

(2015: £452 thousand) in respect of other assurance services
were paid by UBS AG on the Company's.behalf. No recharge
will be made to the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the UK bank levy cost of
£18.1 million (2015: £17.4 million) was incurred in connection
with the Company’s equity and liabilities. This was borne by UBS
AG, which as the responsible member of the Group is liable for

the bank levy arising in respect of the chargeable equity and
liabilities of all Group companies. A recharge of £7.4 million
(2015: £5.9 million) has been made to the Company in relation
to its risk bearing activity.

-
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Balance sheet notes: assets

Note 12 Due from banks and loans

GBP million : 31.12.16 31.12.15
Due from banks, net? : ’ ) . 1,054 841
Loans and advances to customers, net! : . 1,054 791
Total due from banks and loans. net - M 2,107 1632

1 Includes £452m (2015: £474m) contributing to membership funds. £398m within Clearing and Execution business and £54m within Group ALM that are required by various exchanges / central cle,érﬁng

counterparties to cover losses from any clearing member defaulting. 2 Oue from banks include £343m (2015: £177m) relating to the equity financing business for cash margin on exchanges.

1

instruments

Note 13 Cash collateral on securities borrowed and lent, repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements and derivative

UBS Limited enters into collateralized reverse repurchase and Company manages credit risk associated with these activities by
repurchase agreements, securities borrowing and securities monitoring counterparty credit exposure and collateral values on
lending transactions and derivative transactions that may result a daily basis and requiring additional collateral to be deposited
in credit exposure in the event that the counterparty to the with or returned to UBS Limited when deemed necessary.

transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations. The

Cash collateral

Cash collateral

Reverse receivable on Cash collateral on Reverse receivable on
’ . . Cash collateral on repurchase derivative securities . repurchase derivative
GBP million - securities borrowed agreements instruments borrowed' agreements instruments
31.12.15
31.12.16 31.12.1? 31.12.16 (restated) 311205 312,15
By counterparty
Banks ’ 2,753 955 3,587 ‘ 3,012 1,023 3,760
Customers  ~ ’ 47 1,683 2,903 34 . 1,950 2,267
Total 2,799 2,638 - 6,490 3,047 © 2973 6,027
Cash collateral Cash collateral
payable on payable on
Cash collateral on Repurchase derivative Cash collateral on Repurchase derivative
GBP million . N securities lent agreements instruments securities fent! agreements instruments
31.12.15
31.12.16 311216 31.12.16 (restated) 31.12.15 31.12.15
......... o e Wi . s
Customers . T - 15 1,371 ) - 532
Total . 228 3,472 "~ 153 4 4,021

1 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed and lent has been restated downwards by £664m. Refer to Note 1b for more information.
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Note 14 Allowances and provisions
GBP million

By movement : , 319296 311215
Balance at the beginning of the year - .

Write-offs / usage of provisions : i (2)

Recoveries

Increase / (decrease) recognized in the income statement

Foreign currency translation ’ - Z

Balance at the end of the year . - -

Refer to Note 33: Risk, treasury and capital management for more information.
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Note 15 Trading portfolio

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Trading portfolio assets by issuer type
DEbt inS"umenB ---------------------------------------------------------------------
Government and government agencies o '. """""""""""""""" 1,106 967
ofwhich: feafy e 213 298
S .......... = T
o Gamary T — N i
of which: Spain e . ) 73 142
of which: UK . O 332 50
e ST QUL .o e et e e e e A 9.
B e—————eeeeeeeeeenes e 205 L
'EB}porates and other - 642 379
Total debt instruments 1,954 1,587
Equity instruments . ) 2,783 2,183
Total trading portfolio assets . 4,737 3,770
Trading portfolio liabilities by issuer type
Debt instruments cereessraeeese e e
Gove"r.nm'e'r;i.é'r-l.d éovemment agencies ' e ; 1,479 1084
of whic: iy e a8 493
A 8 kA
.1 which: Germany B S 7 /)
. .ofwhich: Spain - T, 66 190
_..of which: UK 424 .60
B s o 2
Banis ~ S e 206 203
.C&bbrates and other o 529 . 31
Total debt instruments 2,214 1,598
Equity instruments 3,605 3,189
Total trading portfalin liahilities 5,819 4,787

GBP million . 311216 319215

Tradling portfolio assets by product type
_Debt instru

Corp
Loans

:].___e:é:t}ﬁé}ii.fﬁhd L
Asset-backed securities i ) —

of which: mortgage-backed securities o . - -
Total debt instruments ' 1,954 1,587
Equity instruments ' 2,783 2,183
Total trading portfolio assets ' 4,737 3,770
Trading portfolio liabilities by product type
DEbtINSUUMENTS e eeeeevsesresssssnssssrsnees SOOIV
Government bills / bonds 1,473 1,080
Corporate bonds and municipal bonds, including bonds issued by financial institutions 669 497
S et )
Vs tment fUNd UNits 15 1
Total debt instruments 2,214 1,598
Equity instruments 3,605 3,189
Total trading portfolio liabilities 5,819 4,787
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‘Note 16 Derivative instruments

Derivatives: overview

A derivative is a financial instrument, the value of which is
derived from the value of one or more variables (underlyings).
Underlyings may be.indices, foreign currency exchange or
interest rates, or the value of shares, commodities, bonds or
other financial instruments. A derivative commonly requires little
or no initial net investment by either counterparty to the trade.
The majority of derivative contracts are negotiated with
respect to notional amounts, tenor, price and settlement
mechanisms, as is customary with other financial instruments.

Over-the-counter (OTC) derivative contracts are usually traded-

under a standardized International Swaps and Derivatives
Association (ISDA) master agreement between the Company
and its counterparties. Terms are negotiated directly with
counterparties and the contracts will have industry-standard
settlement mechanisms based on ISDA forms and market
practice. The use of central counterparties (CCPs) to clear OTC
trades is increasingly becoming mandatory. The trend toward
CCP clearing and settlement will generally facilitate the
reduction of ‘systemic credit exposures.

Other derivative contracts are standardized in terms of their
amounts and settlement dates, and are bought and sold on
requlated exchanges. These are commonly referred to as
exchange-traded derivatives (ETD) contracts. Exchanges offer the
benefits of pricing transparency, standardized daily settlement of
changes in value, and consequently reduced credit risk.

For presentation purposes, the derivative contracts are subject
to IFRS netting provisions. Derivative instruments are measured
at fair. value and generally classified as Positive replacement
values and Negative replacement values on the face of the
balance sheet. However, ETD which are economically settled on
a daily basis and OTC derivatives, which are either legally settled
or, in substance, net settled on a ‘daily basis, are classified as

Cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments or Cash.

collateral payables on derivative instruments. Changes in the
replacement values of derivatives are recorded in Net trading
income. ’

Derivative product types, as well as valuation principles and
techniques applied by the Company are described in Note 24.
. Positive replacement values represent the estimated amount the
Group would receive if the derivative contract were sold on the
balance sheet date. Negative replacement values indicate the
estimated amount the Company would pay to transfer its
obligations in respect of the underlying contract, were it
required or entitled to do so on the balance sheet date.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are not
included in the table “Derivative instruments” withifi this Note.
Bifurcated embedded derivatives are presented on the same
balance sheet line as the host contract. In cases where the
Company applies the fair value option to hybrid instruments,
bifurcation of an embedded derivative component is not
required and as such, this component is also not included in the

v

table Derivative instruments. Refer to note 18: Financial assets
designated at fair value, Note 21: Financial liabilities designated
at fair value and Note 24: Fair value measurement for more
information.

Risk of derivative instruments

Derivative instruments.are transacted in many trading portfolios,
which generally include several types of instruments, not just
derivatives. The market risk of derivatives is predominantly
managed and controlled as an integral part of the market risk of
these portfolios. The Company's approach to market risk is
described in Note 33: Risk, treasury and capital management.

Derivative instruments are also transacted with many different
counterparties, most of whom are also counterparties for other
types of business. The credit risk of derivatives is managed and
controlled in the context of the Corhpany’s overall credit
exposure to its counterparties. The Company’s approach to
credit risk is described in Note 33: Risk, treasury and capital
management. It should be noted that, although the positive
replacement values shown on the balance sheet can be an
important component of the Company's credit exposure, the
positive replacement values for a respective counterparty are
rarely an adequate reflection of the Company’s credit exposure
in its derivatives business with that counterparty. This is generally
the case because, on the one hand, replacement values can
increase over time (potential future exposure), while on the
other hand, exposure may be mitigated by entering into master
netting agreements and bilateral collateral arrangements. Both
the exposure measures used internally by the Company to
control credit risk and the capital requirements imposed by
regulators reflect these additional factors.

The notional amount of a derivative is generally the quantity
of the underlying instrument on which the derivative contract is
based and is the reference against which changes in"the value of
the derivative are measured. Notional values, in themselves, are
generally not a direct indication of the values which are
exchanged between parties, and are therefore not a direct
measure of risk or financial exposure, but are viewed as an
indication of the scale of the different types of derivatives
entered into by the Company.

The maturity profile of OTC interest rate contracts held as of
31 December 2016, based on notional values, was:
approximately 24% (31 December 2015: 30%) mature within
one year, 45% (31 December 2015: 45%) within one to five
years and 31% (31 December 2015: 25%) after five years.
Notional values of interest rate contracts cleared with a clearing
house that qualify for IFRS balance sheet netting or are legally
settled on a daily basis are presented under other notional values
and are categorized into maturity buckets on the basis of
contractual maturities of the cleared underlying derivative
contracts
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Replacement values
31.12.16 : 31.12.15
Notional " Notional Notional . Notional
values " values no:i);:; values . values nofi);:?l
. related to related to related to related to
GBP million Total PRV? PRVs®  Total NRV2 NRVs3  values™® .Total PRV PRVs® _Total NRV? NRVs?  values*
JMEESLIBE COMMIBLYS | e eeeseeeeeeeeseesessesesessessesses st es s ces s SeSSRARRSE S0 SR80 5140 st 100
O r e COUMT (0T ) oM aElS i, .
...... Forward contracts 48 5,468 48 5017 13075 16 5,182 14 4,368 ]
. Swaps 5699 74,488 6,294 83819 134392 6,234 . 106758 6514 123,238 77623
Options YL 76,103 2,694 72,266 z 2,793 76,423 2,775 74,834 =
XCNANGEAMAUR COMMBLIS || oo soeeeeeeee e ssse e eesse oo snss SRR AR 8RR SRR 0
Futures - - . e - 3817 . - Zrmmel -
Agency transactions® 26 - 26 = = 8 = 8 . T
Total 8,495 156,059 9,062 160,902 151,284 9,051 188,363 9311 202,439 81,931
CTeditderVative COMIACES | | oooeoeeeceses e esesesesssseesssssessss s ssstesessesesssmeresssssssssessseesesssssoons ‘
e the-couner (010 corad
______ Credit default swaps TR 4,477 180 75,086 - 210 5215 5693 -
Total rate of return swaps ’ 8 6 13 11 T 12 400 16 57 —
Total . 181 4,484 193 5,097 - 222 5,615 238 5,750 -
300 9,238 298 8,644 = 246 7958 244 7,260 .
4,156 73,350 4,167 69,121 - -3,936 64,724 4,085 65773 -
111 4,610 113 4,695 - 211 14853 212 10,749 -
1 I oo 2 ] .
4,568 87,197 4,578 82,461 - 4,395 87,534 - 4,543 83,783 -
63 8497 9 6,869
22 7,800 114 3,647
852 6,611 819 6,649
- = o - AEI = . s " 854
. 0 355 26 237 - 147 26 97 -
Agengy transactions® 2,516 - 2,487 ) - - 1,970 = 1,970 = =
Total 3,652 23,263 3,516 17,402 713 3,030 15,271 2,978 12,804 - 854
Predous metal contram .........................................................
Over-the-counter (OTC) contracts s
Forwards " : - = - : 4 B LR T -
Options ) 9 99 95 - 18 179 18 179 -
Exchange-traded contracts -
Agency transactions® 17 - 17 - - 13 - 137 - o
Total ] . 27 99 27 95 - 34 205 34 201 —

Commodities contracts, excluding
_precious metals contracts
Over-the-counter (OTC) contracts

...... swaps : 3 50 3 250 T 3
Options 1 69 1 53 - 2
Exchange:traded contracts
Futures S I i e "
Options _ - - = - .
Agency transactions® - 525 - - 930 - 930 - -
Total 319 529 302 - 935 236 935 232 -
Total replacement values 17,451 271,421 17,904 266,259 151,997 17,668 297,225 18,040 305,209 82,784

1 PRV: Positive replacement values. 2 NRV: Negative replacement values. 3 In cases where replacement values are presented on a net basis on the balance sheet, the respective notional values of the netted
replacement values are still presented on a gross basis. 4 Other notional values relate to derivatives ‘which are cleared through either a central clearing counterparty or an exchange. The fair value of these
derivatives is presented on the balance sheet net of the corresponding cash margin under Cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments and Cash collateral payables on derivative instruments and were not
material for the periods presented. 5 Notional values of exchange-traded agency transactions are not disclosed due to their significantly different risk profie. & Changes in the fair value of purchased and sold
non-derivative financial i b trade date and settlement date are recognized as replacement values. 2016 includes PRV £98 miilion, NRV £107 million (2015: PRV £39 million, NRV £69 million).
Notional amounts related to these replacement values are PRV £10,313 million, NRV £8,333 million (2015: PRV £6,595 million, NRV £4,382 million).
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Note 17 Financial investments classified as available-for-sale

Financial investments available-for-sale by issuer type

of which: customers

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Debt instruments
Government and govemment agencies 52 2,415'
s & s
Total debt instruments 121 3,161
Equity instruments 2 2
Total financial investments available-for-sale 123 3,163
“Unrealized gains - before tax . S —————————— 1 Iy
Unrealized (Ioss.es) beforetax mmmm—— - )]
Net unrealized gains - before tax 1 1
Net unreali'z'éa'é.ains Caftertax R 1
Financial investments available-for-sale by product type .
GBP million 31.12.16, 31.12.15
Government bills/bonds 52 2,357
Corporale bonds and municipal bonds T mmmmm—m——m—— 69 804
Total debt instruments 21 3,161
Equity instrument 2 2
G 4veseeasnssisststtrtes ibe oLt shsabe S TR SSRS SR SHe SRR KRS P 4R RIb RS R PO RSB FRbOA VS R4 bR R R SRR SR 400 0SSR RO AE VO SO R S E SRR PSS SRR RO RSB bR RSBSOS A ; e
Total financial investments available-for-sale ! = 123 3,163
Note 18 Financial assets designated at fair value
GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Loans , , - 33
B 5 ety
"S.tructur'é.&"reverse repos and securities .l;;;};;\;.i;{énarrangements ..................... 238 249
..... Df Wﬁ/c/; banks o s 236 ?-5'3 .
....................... : o

nt Bills / Bonds 1,946 ~

Corporate and mun'itipal bonds 1,386 "’

Fei e st 35 e
Financial assets designated at fair value 3,931 666
Note 19 Other assets )
GBP million 31.12.16 311215
Accrued income 37 65

.gé't}lement accounts T mm————— s gmmmn”y L o g e n e g g s 18 U

L gr— =
Othert 54 7
114 169

Total other assets

1 Other includes receivables from third parties relating to the risk taking businesses within the Company.
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Balance sheet notes: liabilities

Note 20 Due to banks and customers

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Due to banks 2,715 2,309
Due to customers: demand deposits ¢ 69 30
Due to custonr;;r's: time deposits 317 200 :
Total due to customers . 385 230
3,100 2,539

Total due to banks and customers

Due to banks include £686 million (2015: £587 million) of subordinated loans against UBS AG. These comprise EUR 528 million and
USD 292 million (2015: EUR 528 million and USD 292 million), both of floating rate loans which are both due to expire in May 2024.

Note 21 Financial liabilities at fair value .
GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Structured OTC debt instruments 350 417
T w7 e
L g s

Structured rep.t.l.r‘c.ﬁ;.se agreements L mmmmm—m—— 374 N .
724 728

Financial liabilities designated at fair value

As of 31 December 2016, the contractual redemption amount at
maturity of Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit and loss was £11 million (2015: £11 million) higher than
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the carrying value. Refer to Note 27b Maturity analysis of
financial liabilities for maturity information on an undiscounted

cash flow basis.



Npte 22 Provisions

a) Provisions

G8P millon litigation  Operationa Other Total31.12.16  Total 31.12.15
Balance at the beginning of the year 27 2 - 29 3

Increase in provmons recognized in the income statement 9 1 3. 23 29

Release in prowsmns recognized in the. mcomestatement .......................................... (1) - = (1 (1)
e ) et B i .... i
Forelgn currency .(ra nslation o - - - -
Balance at the end of the year . ' 38 3 - 41 29

1 Comprises provisions for losses resulting from legal, liability and compliance risks.

During the year, the Company maintained a provision relating to
litigation, regulatory and similar matters, totaling £27 million. In
relation to this provision, the Company has claimed the
disclosure exemption in IAS 37 paragraph 92, since the
Company expects that disclosure of the details of this provision
would seriously prejudice the position of the Company in

b) Litigation, regulatory and similar matters

The Company operates in a legal arid regulatory environment
that exposes it to significant litigation and similar risks arising
from disputes and regulatory proceedings. As a result, the
Company may be involved in various disputes and legal
proceedings, including litigation, arbitration, and regulatory and
criminal investigations.

Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and the

outcome and the timing of resolution is often difficult to predict,’

particularly in the earlier stages of a case. There are also
situations where the Company may enter into a settlement
agreement. This may occur in order to avoid the expense,
management distraction or reputational implications of
continuing to contest liability, even for those matters for which
the Company believes it should be exonerated. The uncertainties
inherent in all such matters affect the amount and timing of any
potential outflows for both matters with respect to which
provisions have been established and other contingent liabilities.
The Company makes provisions for such matters brought
against it when, in the opinion of management after seeking
legal advice, it is more likely than not that.the Company has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required, and
the amount can be reliably estimated. Where these factors are
otherwise satisfied, a provision may be established for claims
that have not yet been asserted against the Company, but are
nevertheless expected to be, based on the Company's
experience with similar asserted claims. ‘If any  of those
conditions is not met, such matters result in'contingent liabilities.
If the amount of an obllgatlon cannot be reliably estimated, a
liability exists that is not recognized even if an outflow of
resources is probable. Accordingly, no provision is established

2 Comprises provisions for losses resulting from transaction processing risks.

relation to the other party/parties to the proceedings which are
the subject matter of the provision, and the details of which are
confidential to the parties. Any charges that may ultimately be
made against this provision are expected to be recoverable
pursuant to an indemnity provided by UBS AG, described in
Note 33: Risk, treasury and capital management.

even if the potential outflow of resources with respect to select
matters could be significant.

UBS Group AG, the Company's ultimate parent, provides
information relating to provisions and ‘contingent liabilities in
respect of litigation, regulatory and similar matters in relation to
itself and/or its subsidiaries in its regular public-filings. This
includes regulatory investigations and enquiries and related
litigation relating to various matters concerning the UBS Group's
business and operations, which may be relevant to the
Company.

In the event that any of the matters described in this section
result in an-outflow of funds, the Company may have the
benefit of an indemnity provided by UBS AG. The circumstances
in which this indemnity will be applicable are described at Note
33: Risk, treasury and capital management.

Kommunale Wasserwerke Leipzig GmbH (KWL),
In 2006 and 2007, KWL enteréed into a series of Credit Default
Swap (STCDO/CDS) transactions with bank swap counterparties,
including UBS AG. UBS Limited entered into back-to-back CDS
transactions with the other counterparties, Depfa Bank plc
(Depfa) and Landesbank Baden-Wirttemberg (LBBW), in relation
to their respective swaps with KWL. The transaction with LBBW
was subsequently novated from UBS Limited .to UBS AG. KWL
retained UBS Global Asset Management (UK) Limited ("UBS
Global AM") to ‘act as portfolio manager under the STCDOs.
UBS AG, UBS Limited and the intermediating banks terminated
the STCDO/CDS with KWL following non-payment by KWL. UBS
AG claimed approximately USD 236.5 million, plus interest, from
KWL and LBBW, and UBS Limited claimed USD 83.3 million plus
interest from Depfa. .
In 2010, UBS AG and UBS Global AM issued proceedings in
the English High Court against KWL, UBS AG issued proceedings
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against LBBW, and UBS Limited issued proceedings against
Depfa, in each case seeking declarations and/or to enforce the
terms of the STCDO/CDS contracts, and each of KWL, LBBW and
Depfa filed counterclaims. Following trial in 2014, the Court
ruled that the STCDO/CDS contracts entered into with KWL,
LBBW and Depfa have been rescinded and cannot be enforced
by the UBS parties, granted the fraudulent misrepresentation
claims made by LBBW against UBS AG and by Depfa against UBS
Limited, ruled that UBS Global AM breached its duty in. the
management .of the underlying portfolios and dismissed KWL's
monetary counterclaim against UBS AG. These rulings have been
implemented and additional claims relating to interest on
collateral and the costs of separate proceedings in Germany
have been deferred. The UBS parties have been ordered to pay
part of the other parties’ costs in the proceedings, which have
not been fully determined. On 16 October 2015, UBS AG, UBS
Limited and UBS Global AM were granted permission by the
Court of Appeal to appeal against the Judgment of the trial
judge, and on 18 April 2016 KWL was granted permission to
cross-appeal. The appeal hearing has been listed for ten days
commencing on either 12 May 2017 or 15 May 2017
(depending upon how the Lords justices' reading in progress).

Since 2011, the SEC has been conducting an investigation .

focused on, among other things, the suitability of the KWL
transaction, and information provided by UBS to KWL. UBS has
provided documents and testimony to the SEC and is continuing
to cooperate with the SEC.

LBI hf

In the period 2004-08, UBS AG and UBS Limited entered into
derivatives transactions with LBI hf (LBI) (formerly Landsbanki hf)
under’ their respective ISDA Master Agreements with LBl (the
Master Agreements). Following the appointment of a Resolution
Committee over LBl on 7 October 2008, the Master Agreements
terminated in accordance with their terms, UBS AG and UBS

Limited calculated the amounts due, and set-off the amount due
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to LBi from UBS Limited against the amount due from LBI to UBS

“AG.

In March 2015, LBI issued’ proceedings in the High Court in
London against UBS Limited seeking payment of USD 22-24
million (i) on the grounds that the set-off was not effective
under Icelandic law, and (i) disputing UBS Limited's calculation
of the amount due under the Master Agreement. UBS Limited
disputes the claim in its entirety. The Court ordered that the
effectiveness of the set-off under Icelandic law should be
determined as a preliminary issue, at a hearing commencing 4
July 2016. The parties-entered into a settlement in respect of this
matter and it is now at an end. The Company had the benefit of
an indemnity provided by UBS AG in relation to the settlement.

Land Salzburg

Between 2003 and 2012, the Austrian state Land Salzburg (LS)
concluded a large number of trades with various financial
institutions, including UBS Limited.

In December 2012, LS issued a press release alleglng that
fraudulent trades conducted- by an official at LS on its behalf
with various financial institutions had caused losses to LS of
approximately EUR 340 million. The relevant official
subsequently pleaded guilty to, inter alia, forging the signature
of a colleague on 22 trades.

LS meanwhile issued proceedings in the Austrian and
Luxembourg Courts against a number of banks in relation to
trades entered into by this official on its behalf. In December
2015, LS threatened to bring proceedings against UBS Limited
before the Regional Court of Frankfurt. LS claimed that UBS
entered into a large number of trades with LS which were invalid
under Austrian law and which were unsuitable for LS, that UBS
failed to properly advise LS, and asserted a net loss of
approximately EUR 85 million. The parties entered into a
settlement in respect.of this matter after 31 December 2016 and
it is now at an end. The Company had the benefit of an
indemnity provided by UBS AG in relation to the settlement.



Note 23 Other liabilities

GBF millon 31.12.16 31.12.15
Accrued expenses ® %

Deferred income. - mmmm———— ey mm— s 8 -
e - o
Other tax payables T mmmmmm—m—m—m—m——mm—n—memmm—m—— e -
Other liabilities . mmmmmmm—m—enmmmm— —e;mmn  m,e i -

198’ 145

Total other liabilities
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Note 24 Fair value measurement

This note provides fair value measurement information for both financial and non-financial instruments and is structured as follows:

a) Valuation principles

b) Valuation governance ’
¢) Fair value hierarchy

d) Valuation adjustments

e) Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy
f) Level 3 instruments: valuation techniques and inputs

g) Level 3 instruments: sensitivity to changes in unobservable input
h) Level 3 instruments: movements during the period

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

a) Valuation principles

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for the
sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants in the principal market
(or most advantageous market, in the absence of a principal
market) as of the measurement date. In measuring fair value,
the Group uses various valuation approaches and applies a
hierarchy for prices and inputs that maximizes the use of
observable market data, if available.

All financial and non-financial assets and liabilities measured
or disclosed at fair value are categorized into one of three fair
value hierarchy levels. In certain cases, the inputs used to
measure fair value may fall within different levels of the fair
value hierarchy. For disclosure purposes, the level in the
hierarchy within which the instrument is classified in its entirety
is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
position’s fair value measurement:

Level 1 —-quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2 — valuation techniques for which all significant inputs
are, or are based on, observable market data or .

Level 3 — valuation techniques for which significant inputs are
not based on observable market data. ‘

If available, fair values are determined using quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities. An active market
is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing data on
an ongoing basis. Assets and liabilities that are quoted and
traded in an active market are valued at the currently quoted
price multiplied by the number of units of the instrument held.

Where the market for a financial instrument or non-financial
asset or liability is not active, fair value is established using a
valuation technique, including pricing models. Valuation
techniques involve the use of estimates, the extent of which
depends on the complexity of the instrument and the availability
of market-based data. Valuation adjustments may be made to
allow for additional factors, including model, liquidity, credit and
funding risks, which are not explicitly captured within the
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assumptions

valuation technique, .but -which would nevertheless be
considered by market participants when establishing a price. The
limitations inherent in a particular valuation technique are
considered in the detérmination of an asset or liability's
classification within the fair value hierarchy.

Many cash instruments and over-the-counter (OTC) derivative
contracts have bid and offer prices that can be observed in the
marketplace. Bid ‘prices reflect the highest price that a party is
willing to pay for an asset. Offer prices represent the lowest
price that a party is willing to accept for. an asset. In general,
long positions are measured at a bid price and short positions at
an offer price, reflecting the prices at which the instruments
could be transferred under normal market conditions. Offsetting
positions in the same financial instrument are marked at the
mid-price within the bid-offer spread.

Generally, the 'unit of account for a financial instrument is the
individual instrument, and the Company applies valuation
adjustments at an individual instrument level, consistent with
that unit of account. However, if certain conditions are met, the
Company may estimate the fair value of a portfolio of financial
assets and liabilities with substantially similar and offsetting risk
exposures on the basis of the net open risks. ‘

b) Valuation governance

UBS Limited's fair value. measurement and model governance
framework includes numerous controls and other procedural
safeguards that are intended to maximize the quality of fair
value measurements reported in the financial statements. New
products and valuation techniques must be reviewed and’
approved by key stakeholders from risk and finance control
functions. Responsibility for the ongoing measurement of
financial and non-financial instruments at fair value resides with
the business divisions. In carrying out their valuation
responsibilities, the "businesses are required to consider the
availability and quality of external market data and to provide
justification and rationale for their fair value estimates. Fair value
estimates are validated by risk and finance control functions,
which are independent of the business divisions.

Independent price verification is performed by Finance
through benchmarking the business divisions’ fair value



estimates with observable market prices and other independent
sources. Controls and governance are in place to ensure the
quality of third-party pricing sources where used. For
instruments where valuation models are used to determine fair
value, independent valuation and model control groups within
finance and risk evaluate UBS Limited's models on a regular
basis, including valuation and model input parameters as well as
pricing. As a result of the valuation controls employed, valuation
adjustments may be made to the business divisions’ estimates of
fair value to align with independent market data .and the
relevant accounting - standard. Refer to Note 24d for more
information.

<) Fair value hierarchy

The table below provides the fair value hierarchy classification of
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value. The narrative that follows describes the different product
types and valuation techniques used in measuring their fair
value, including significant valuation inputs and assumptions
used, and the factors determining their classification within the
fair value hierarchy.

Determination of fair values from quotéd market prices or valuation techniques

31.12.16 31.12.15
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
. Quoted Market  Non-market Quoted Market Non-market
market  observable observable market observable  observable

GBP million price inputs inputs price. _ inputs inputs

Financial assets held for trading 3,758 920 58 4,737 3,01 752 7 3,770
gf which:

" Government bills/bonds 938 7 —_— 1,085 811 134 - 945
la. ar,éb'rg'fé bonds, municipal bonds, /'/lc/ud/iz}'%leé’} feswed by T m————————,—,e—,
finandial institutions - 723 ! 580 - 5871

i " " 2! 6 27
_____ 8 39 21 72 - 23
- - 7 - 7
17 T 278 217 A l...218
Positive replacement values 68 16,754 628 17,451 39 17,028 601 17,668
of which: . .

Cmterestrate coptraces - 8178 280 8458 - g9 1259045
Credit derivative contras - 92 89 181 - 118 104 227
...... Foreign t;;rgl.zange contracts Ty 4477 a9 4,568 7 ) 4746 248 4,395
" Equity / Index contracts e 3421 169 3589 Y ] 1232997

Precious metal L mmmmmm— - 27 - 27 - 34 -
‘‘‘‘‘ Commoaities contracts - 528 T 529 - a3 /
______ Unsettled purchases/sales of non-derivative fin. assets 66 32 58 37 2 -
Financial assets designated at fair value 1,742 1,910 279 3,931 - 414 252 666
of which: -
Loans lincluding structured foans) = 320 47 367 - 142 - 142
Structured reverse repurchase agreements and securities T I — ————In vy —m — —n—, -,
borrowing agreements - = - 1 248 249
...... Government bils{ bonds : 1742 204 A g 0
;Z/;Z;/{fh,bzgﬁa/l;‘m/cm/ lmmisT including bonds issued by _ 1.386 _ 1386 0 0 0 0
BSHUTEN _....eoeeeeveeestseimssssssssssone o z 9 e 271 g 7
Financial investments available-for-sale 52 69 2 123 2,560 601 2 3,163
e SLWHE -
.... o g - s 555 i - 55
" Corporate honds, municipal bonds, inchuding bonds issued by T —— ppymymyymnm—  — — e —,
______ financial institutions = 69 - 69 283 - 520 - 804
Equity instruments - - 2 2 - - 2 2
Total financial assets 5,619 19,653 967 26,240 5,610 18,794 862 25,266
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Determination of fair values from quotéd market prices or valuation techniques (continued)

31.12.16 To311215
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Quoted Market Non—market Quoted Market Non-market
market  observable observable market observable  observable
GBP millon ) ) price inputs . inputs price inputs inputs
Trading portfolio liabilities 4,939 824 57 " 5,819 4,194 586 6 4,787
of which: ’
Government bils/bonds 1323 isg T 0 4 L0053 77 =080
; ﬂo;ﬁig/ffhﬁ[o/;/ﬁbflgm/apa/ bonds, including bonds issued by _ 668 _ 668 > 49 5 _ 497
"::::Zé{veslmentr’undun/‘fs . 3 e Wi e 7_7
Loans. ' o . e 7 57 58 _— 13 6 19
W g g
Negative replacement values . 14 17,205 627 17,906 69 17,370 601 18,040
...... of which: : N
Interest rate conwacts - &5 250 : ) .' 9025 - 9182 125 9307
" Credit denivetive contracts - 104 Te9 T g3 =TT 03 238
- ';ore}gn exchange contracts I/ 4489 884,578 7 4,294 48 4543
Equity/ Index contracts ’ . o 3277 170 3,446
Precious metal . e 7 - 27 - A - 34
Commadives o . _ o 7 g e /935
et pchoess o e I R ST S T S ]
Financial liabilities designated at fair value - 366 358 724 - 470 258 728
of which: :
... Structured over-the-counter debt instruments - 308 41 - 350 - 413 4 417
.... ?ir'z/'z'ﬂl'fedrepurcﬁase agreements’ . Y 7/ 317 374 - 57 254 N
Tota! finandal liabilities 5,013 18,394 1,042 24,449 4,263 18,427 865 23,555




Valuation techniques

Valuation techniques are used to value positions for which a
market price is not available from market sources. This includes
certain less liquid debt and equity instruments, certain
exchange-traded derivatives and all derivatives transacted in the
OTC market. The Company .uses widely recognized valuation
techniques for determining the fair value of financial and non-
financial instruments that are not actively traded and quoted.
The most frequently applied valuation “techniques include
discounted value of expected cash flows, relative value and
option pricing methodologies.

Discounted value of expected cash flows is a valuation
technique that measures fair value using estimated expected
future cash flows from assets or liabilities and then discounts
these cash flows using a discount rate or discount margin that
reflects the credit and / or funding spreads required by the
market for instruments with similar risk and liquidity profiles to
produce a present value. When using such valuation techniques,
expected future cash flows are estimated using an observed or
implied market price for the future cash flows or by using
industry standard cash flow projection models. The discount
factors within the calculation are generated using industry
standard yield curve modeling techniques and models.

Relative value models measure fair value based on the market
prices of equivalent or comparable assets or liabilities, making
adjustments for differences between the characteristics of the
observed instrument and the instrument being valued.

Option pricing models incorporate assumptions regarding the
behavior of future price movements of an underlying referenced
asset or assets to generate a probability-weighted future
expected payoff for the option. The resulting probability-
weighted expected payoff is then discounted using discount
factors generated from industry standard yield curve modeling
techniques and models. The option pricing model may bé
implemented using a closed-form analytical formula. or other
" mathematical techniques (e.g., binomial tree or Monte Carlo
simulation).

Where available, valuation techniques use market-observable
assumptions and inputs. If such data is not available, inputs may
be deérived by reference to similar assets in active markets, from
recent prices for comparable transactions or from other
observable market data. In such cases, the inputs selected are
based on historical experience and practice for similar or
analogous instruments,” derivation of input levels based on
similar products . with observable price levels and knowledge of
current market conditions and valuation approaches.

For more complex instruments and instruments not traded in
an active market, fair values may- be estimated using a
combination of observed transaction prices, consensus pricing
services and relevant quotes. Consideration is given to the
nature of the quotes (e.g., indicative or firm) and the

relationship of recently evidenced market activity to the prices
provided by consensus pricing services. The Company also uses
internally developed models, which are typically based on
valuation methods and techniques recognized -as standard
within the industry. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation
techniques include benchmark interest rate curves, credit and
funding spreads .used -in estimating discount rates, bond and
equity prices, equity index prices, foreign exchange rates, levels
of market volatility and correlation. Refer to Notes 24e and 24h
for more information. The discount curves used by the Company
incorporate the funding and credit characteristics of the
instruments to which they are applied

Financial instruments excluding derivatives: product
description, valuation and classification in the fair value
hierarchy :

Government bills and bonds

Product description: government bills and bonds include fixed-
rate, floating-rate and inflation-linked bills and bonds issued by
sovereign governments.

Valuation: these instruments are generally valued using prices
obtained directly from the market. Instruments that cannot be
priced directly using active’ market data are valued using
discounted cash flow valuation techniques that mcorporate
market data for similar government instruments.

Fair value hierarchy: Government bills and bonds are generally
traded in active markets with prices that can be obtained directly
from these markets, resulting in classification as Level 1, while-
the remaining positions are classified as Level 2.

Corporate and municipal bonds

Product description: corporate bonds mclude senior, junior and
subordinated debt issued by corporate entities. Municipal bonds
are issued by state and local governments. While most
instruments are standard fixed or floating-rate securities, some
may have more complex coupon or embedded option features.

Valuation: corporate and municipal bonds are generally
valued using prices obtained directly from the market for the
security, or similar securities, adjusted for senjority, maturity and
liquidity. When prices are not available, instruments are valued
using discounted cash flow valuation techniques incorporating
the credit spread of the issuer or similar issuers. For convertible
bonds where no directly comparable price is available, issuances
may be priced using a convertible bond model.

Fair value hierarchy: corporate and municipal bonds are
generally classified as Level 1 or Level 2 depending on the depth
of trading- activity behind price sources. Level 3 instruments have
no suitable pricing information available and also cannot be
referenced to other securities issued by the "same issuer.
Therefore, such instruments are measured based on price levels
for similar issuers adjusted for relative tenor'and issuer quality.
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Traded loans and loans designated at fair value

Product description: these instruments include fixed rate loans,
corporate loans, recently originated commercial real estate loans
and contingent lending-transactions.

Valuation: Loans are valued directly using market prices that
reflect recent transactions or quoted dealer prices where
available. Where no market price data are available, loans are
valued using relative value benchmarking using pricing derived
from debt instruments in comparable entities or different
products in the same entity, or by using a credit default swap
valuation technique, which requires inputs for credit spreads,
credit recovery rates and interest rates. Recently originated
commercial real estate loans are measured using a securitization
approach based on rating agency guidelines. The valuation of
the contingent lending transactions is dependent on actuarial
mortality levels and actuarial life insurance policy lapse rates.
Mortality and lapse rate assumptions are based on external
actuarial estimations for large homogeneous pools, and
contingencies are derived from a range relative to the actuarlally
expected amount.

Fair value hierarchy: Instruments with suitably deep and liquid

pricing information are classified as Level 2, while any positions
requiring the use of valuation techniques, or for which the price
sources have insufficient trading depth, are classified as Level 3.

Investment fund units

Product description: investment fund units are pools of assets,
generally equity instruments and bonds, broken down into
redeemable units.

Valuation: investment fund wunits are predominantly
exchange-traded, with readily available quoted prices in liquid
markets. Where market prices are not available, fair value may
be measured using net asset values (NAV), taking into account
any restrictions imposed upon redemption.

Fair value hierarchy: listed units are classified as Level 1;
provided there is sufficient trading activity to justify active
market classification, while other positions are classified as Level
2. Positions for which NAV is not available or which are not
redeemable at the measurement date or shortly thereafter are
classified as Level 3.

Equity instruments
Product description: equity instruments include stocks and
shares, private equity positions and units held in hedge funds.

Valuation: listed equity instruments are generally valued using
prices obtained directly from the market. Unlisted equity
holdings, including private equity positions, are initially marked
at their transaction price and are revalued when reliable
evidence of price movement becomes available or when the
position is deemed to be impaired. Fair value for units held in
hedge funds is measured based on their published NAV, taking
into account any restrictions imposed upon redemption.

Fair value hierarchy: the majority of equity securities are
actively traded on public stock exchanges where quoted prices
are readily and regularly available, resulting in Level 1
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classification. Units held in hedge funds are classified as Level 2,

except for positions for which published NAV is not available or
which are not redeemable at the measurement date or shortly
thereafter, in which case such positions are classified as Level 3.

Structured (reverse) repurchiase agreements

Product description: structured (reverse) repurchase agreements
are securities purchased under resale agreements and securities
sold under repurchase agreements. .

Valuation: These instruments are valued using discounted
expected cash flow techniques. The discount rate applied is
based on funding curves' that are specific to the collateral
eligibility terms for the contract in question.

Fair value hierarchy: collateral terms for these positions are
not standard and therefore funding spread levels used for
valuation purposes cannot be observed in the market. As a
result, these positions are mostly classified as Level 3.

Derivative instruments: product description, valuation and
classification in the fair value hierarchy

The curves used for discounting expected cash flows in the
valuation of collateralized derivatives reflect the funding terms
associated with the relevant collateral arrangement for the
instrument being valued. These collateral arrangements differ
across counterparties with respect to the eligible currency and
interest terms of the collateral. The majority of collateralized
derivatives are measured using a discount curve that is based on
funding rates derived from overnight interest in the cheapest
eligible currency for the respective counterparty collateral
agreement. '

Uncollateralized and partially collateralized derivatives are
discounted using the LIBOR (or equivalent) curve for the currency
of the instrument. As described in Note 24d, the fair value of
uncollateralized and partially collateralized derivatives is then
adjusted by CVA, DVA and FVA as applicable, to reflect an
estimation of the effect of counterparty credit risk, UBS's own
credit risk and funding costs and benefits.

Interest rate contracts

Product description: interest rate swap contracts include interest
rate swaps, basis swaps, cross-currency swaps, inflation swaps
and interest rate forwards, often referred to as forward-rate
agreements (FRA). Interest rate option contracts include caps
and floors, swaptions, swaps with complex payoff profiles and
other more complex interest rate options.

Valuation: interest rate swap contracts are valued by
estimating future interest cash flows and discounting those cash
flows using a rate that reflects the appropriate funding rate for
the position being measured. The yield curves used to estimate
future index levels and discount rates are generated using
market standard vyield curve models using interest rates
associated with current market activity. The key inputs to the
models are interest rate swap rates, FRA rates, short-term
interest rate futures prices, basis swap spreads and inflation



swap rates. Interest rate option contracts are valued using
various market standard option models, using inputs that
include interest rate yield curves, inflation curves', volatilities and
correlations. The volatility and correlation inputs within the
models are implied from market data based on market observed
prices for standard option instruments trading within the
market. Option models used to value more exotic products have
a number of model parameter inputs that require calibration to
enable the exotic model to price standard option instruments to
the price levels observed in the market. When the maturity of
the interest rate swap or option contract exceeds the term for
which standard market quotes are observable for a significant
input parameter, the contracts are valued by extrapolation from
the last observable point using' standard assumptions or by
reference to another observable comparable input parameter to
represent a suitable proxy for that portion of the term.

Fair value hierarchy: the majority of interest rate swaps are
classified as Level 2 as the standard market contracts that form
the inputs for yield curve models are generally traded in active
and observable markets. Options are generally treated as Level 2
as the calibration process enables the model output to be
validated to active market levels. Models calibrated in this way
are then used to revalue the portfolio of both standard options
as well as more exotic products. In most cases, there are active
and observable markets for the standard market instruments
that form the inputs for yield curve models as well as the
financial instruments from which volatility and correlation inputs
are derived. Exotic options for which appropriate volatility or
correlation input levels cannot be implied from observable
market data are classified as Level 3. Interest rate swap or option
contracts are classified as Level 3 when the term exceeds
standard market observable quotes.

Credit derivative contracts

Product description: a credit derivative is a financial instrument
that transfers credit risk related to a single underlying entity, a
portfolio of underlying entities or a pool of securitized
referenced assets. Credit derivative products include credit
default swaps (CDS) on single names, indices, bespoke portfolios
and securitized products, plus first to default swaps and certain

" total return swaps (TRS).

Valuation: credit derivative contracts are valued using industry
standard models based primarily on market credit spreads,
upfront pricing points and implied recovery rates. Where a
derivative credit spread is not directly available it may be derived
from the price of the reference cash bond. Correlation is an
additional input for certain portfolio credit derivatives. Asset
backed credit derivatives are valued using a similar valuation
technique to the underlying security with an adjustment to
reflect the funding differences between cash and synthetic form.
Inputs include prepayment rates, default rates, loss severity,
discount margin / rate. '

Fair value hierarchy classification: single entity and portfolio
credit derivative contracts are classified as Level 2 when credit
spreads, recovery rates and correlations are determined from
actively traded observable market data. Where the underlying
reference name(s) are not actively traded and the correlation
cannot be directy mapped to actively traded tranche
instruments, these contracts are classified as Level 3. Asset -
backed credit derivatives follow the characteristics of the
underlying security and are therefore distributed across Level 2
and Level 3.

Foreign exchange (FX) contracts

Product description: this includes open spot and forward foreign
exchange (FX) contracts and OTC FX option contracts. OTC FX
option contracts include standard call and put options, options
with multiple exercise dates, path-dependent options, options
with averaging features, options with discontinuous pay-off

" characteristics, options on a number of underlying FX rates and

multi-dimensional FX option which have a
dependency on multiple FX pairs.

Valuation: open spot FX contracts are valued using the FX
spot rate observed in the market. Forward FX contracts are
valued using the FX spot rate adjusted for forward pricing points
observed from standard market-based sources. OTC FX option
contracts are valued using market standard option valuation
models. The models used for shorter-dated options (i.e.,
maturities of five years or less) tend to be different from those
used for longer-dated options because the models needed for
longer-dated OTC FX contracts require additional consideration
of interest rate and FX rate interdependency. Inputs to the
option valuation models include spot FX rates, FX forward
points, FX volatilities, interest rate yield curves, interest rate
volatilities and correlations. The inputs for volatility and
correlation are implied through the calibration of observed prices
for standard option contracts trading within the market. The
valuation for multiple-dimensional FX options uses a multi-local
volatility model, which is calibrated to the observed FX volatilities
for all relevant FX pairs.

Fair value hierarchy: the markets for both FX spot and FX
forward pricing points are both actively traded and observable
and therefore such FX contracts are generally classified as Level
2. A significant proportion of OTC FX option contracts are -
classified as Level 2 as inputs are derived mostly from standard °
market contracts traded in active and observable markets. OTC
FX option contracts classified as Level 3 include multiple-
dimensional FX options and long-dated FX exotic option -

contracts,

. contracts where there is no active market from which to derive

volatility or correlation inputs. The inputs used to value these
OTC FX option contracts are calculated using consensus pricing
services without an underlying principal market, historical asset
prices or by extrapolation.
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Equity / index contracts
Product description: equity / index contracts are equity forward
.contracts and equity option contracts. Equity option contracts

include market standard single or basket stock or index call and.

put options as well as equity option contracts with more
complex features.

Valuation: equity forward contracts have a single stock or
index underlying and are valued using market standard models.
The key inputs to the models are stock prices, estimated
dividend rates and equity funding rates (which are implied from
prices of forward contracts observed in the market). Estimated
cash flows are then discounted using market standard
discounted cash flow models ‘using a rate that reflects the
appropriate funding rate for that portion of the portfolio. When
no market data is available for the instrument maturity they are
valued by some form of extrapolation of available data, use of
historical dividend data, or use of data for a related equity.
Equity option contracts are valued using market standard models
that estimate the equity forward level as described for equity
forward contracts and incorporate inputs for stock volatility and
for correlation between stocks within a basket. The probability-
weighted expected option payoff generated is then discounted
using market standard discounted cash flow models using a rate
that reflects the appropriate funding rate for that portion of the
portfolio. When volatility, forward or correlation inputs are.not
available they are valued using extrapolation of available data,
historical dividend, correlation or volatility data, or the equivalent
data for a related equity. '

Fair value hierarchy: as inputs are derived mostly from
standard market contracts traded in active and observable
markets, a significant proportion of equity forward contracts are
classified as Level 2. Equity option positions for which inputs are
derived from standard market contracts traded in active and
observable markets are also classified as Level 2. Level 3
positions are those for which volatility, forward or correlation
inputs are not observable.

Commodity contracts
Product description: commodity derivative contracts include
forward, swap and option contracts on individual commodities
and on commodity indices. '

Valuation: commodity forward and swap contracts are
measured using market standard models that use market

Own credit on financial liabilities designated at fair value

forward levels on standard .instruments. Commodity option
contracts are measured using market standard option models
that estimate the commodity forward level as described for
commodity forward and swap contracts, incorporating inputs for
the volatility of the underlying index or commodity. For
commodity options on baskets of commodities or bespoke
commodity indices, the valuation technique also incorporates
inputs for the correlation between different commodities or
commodity indices. .

Fair value hierarchy: individual commodity contracts are
typically classified as Level 2 because active forward and volatility
market data are available.

d) Valuation adjustments

The output of a valuation technigue is always an estimate of a
fair value that cannot be measured with complete certainty. As 3
result, valuations are adjusted, where appropriate and when
such factors would be considered by market participants in
estimating fair value, to reflect close-out costs, credit exposure,
model-driven valuation uncertainty, funding costs and benefits,
trading restrictions and other factors. Valuation adjustments are
an important component of fair value for assets and liabilities
that are measured using valuation techniques. Such adjustments’
are applied .to reflect uncertainties within the fair value
measurement process, to adjust for an identified model
simplification or to incorporate an aspect of fair value that
requires an overall portfolio assessment rather than an
evaluation based on an individual instrument level characteristic.

The major classes of valuation adjustments are discussed in
further detail below. .

Own credit .

In addition to considering the valuation of the derivative risk
component, the valuation of financial liabilities designated at fair
value also requires consideration of the funded component and
specifically the own credit component of fair value. Own credit
risk is reflected in the valuation of our fair value option liabilities
where this component is considered relevant for valuation
purposes by our counterparties and other market participants.
However, own credit risk is not reflected in the valuation of our
liabilities that are fully collateralized or for other obligations for
which it is established market practice not to include an own
credit component.

31.12.16

GBP 000s . 31.12.15
(Loss)/ gain for the year ended ) ‘(6, 179) 21903
Life-to-date gain/ (loss) 20,567 22,989
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Credit valuation adjustments

In order to measure the fair value of OTC derivative instruments,
including- funded derivative instruments which are classified as
Financial assets designated at fair value, credit valuation
adjustments (CVA) are necessary to reflect the credit risk of the
counterparty inherent in these instruments. This amount
represents the estimated fair value of protection required to
hedge the counterparty credit risk of such instruments. A CVA is
determined for each counterparty, considering all exposures to
that counterparty, and is dependent on the expected future
value of exposures, default probabilities and recovery rates,
applicable collateral or netting arrangements, break clauses and
other contractual factors.

Funding valuation adjustments .
Funding valuation adjustments (FVA) reflect the costs and
benefits of funding associated with uncollateralized and partially
collateralized derivative receivables and payables and are
calculated as the valuation effect from moving the discounting
of the uncollateralized derivative cash flows from LIBOR to OCA
using the CVA framework. An FVA is also applied to
collateralized derivative assets in cases where the coIIateraI
cannot be sold or repledged.

Debit valuation adjustments .

A debit valuation adjustment (DVA) is estimated to incorporate
own credit in the valuation of denvatwes effectively consistent
with the CVA framework.

DVA is determined for each counterparty, considering all

Other valuation adjustments on financial instruments

exposures with that counterparty and taking into account
collateral netting agreements, expected future mark-to-market
movements and UBS's credit default spreads.

Other valuation adjustments
Instruments that are measured as part of a portfolio of
combined long and short positions are valuéd at mid-market
levels to ensure consistent valuation of the long and short
component risks. A liquidity valuation adjustment is then made
to the overall net long or short exposure to move the fair value
to bid or offer as appropriate, reflecting current levels .of market
liquidity. The bid-offer spreads used ‘in the calculation of this
valuation adjustment are obtained from market transactions and
other relevant sources and are updated periodically.
Uncertainties associated with the use of model-based
valuations are incorporated into the measurement of fair value
through the use of model reserves. These reserves reflect the
amounts that the Group estimates should be deducted from
valuations produced directly by models to incorporate -
uncertainties in the relevant modeling assumptions, in the model
and market inputs used, or in the calibration of the model
output to adjust for known model deficiencies. In arriving at
these estimates, the Group considers a range of market
practices, including how it believes. market participants would
assess these uncertainties. Model reserves are reassessed
periodically in light of data from market transactions, consensus
pricing services and other relevant sources.

Life-to-date gain / (loss), GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Credit valuation adjustments
of iwhich: other fnstruments L — (42) (32)
Funding valuation adjustments . (45) (32)
Debit valuation adjustments 1 1
Other valuaﬁg).n. .a'fijustment.s (2) (2)
@) 2)

of which: Bid-offer/liguidity adjustments -

e) Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2

There have been no material movements betweén level .1 and
level 2 for the period ending December 2016.
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f) Level 3 instruments: valuation techniques and inputs

The table below presents material Level 3 assets and liabilities
together with the valuation techniques used to measure fair
value, the significant inputs used in the valuation technique that
are considered unobservable and a range of values for those
unobservable inputs.

The range of values represents the highest and lowest level
input used in the valuation techniques. Therefore, the range

does not reflect the level of uncertainty regarding a particular
input, but rather the different underlying characteristics of the
relevant assets and liabilities. The ranges will therefore vary from
period to period and parameter to parameter based on
characteristics of the instruments held at each balance sheet
date. Further,  the ranges of unobservable inputs may differ
across other financial institutions due to the diversity of the
products in each firm's inventory.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value measurement of Level 3 assets and liabilities

Fair value Range of inputs
I Valuation Significant unobservable et
Assets Liabilities technique(s) input(s) 31.12.16 31.12.15 units
GBP million
311216 31.1215 31.12.16 31.12.15 low high low high
Financial assets held for trading/
Trading portfalio assets, Financial
assets/liabilities designated at fair
value and Financial investments
available-for-sale
.... Relative value to . . 2
Loans 101 8 98 1 market comparable Loan price equivalent 93 98 points
Reversg repurchase and securities 238 248 317 254 Discounted expected. Funding spread 45 142 51 157 b_asis
borrowing agreements ashflows e points
Replacement values A
Interest rate derivative contracts, net 280 . 125 280 125 Option model  Volatility of interest rates 26 176 16 130 %
Rate to rate correlation . ' 84 94 %
Discounted expected
N - cash flow based on " : basis
Credit derivative Fontracts, net . 89 104 89 103 modelled defaults Credit spread 10 202 97 461 points
.......................................................... and recoveries .
' Upfront price points 13 13 25 25 %
v Recovery rates 20 40 20 55 - %
. Credit pair correlation 59 100" 57 94 %
Foreign exchange contracts, net 89 248 88 248 Rate to FX correlation (57) 60 (57) 60 %

FX to FX correlation (70) 80 (70) 80 %

Equity/index derivative contracts, net i 17Q 123 170 123 Option Model Equity dividend yields - 5 - 13 %
Volatility of equity stocks, _
equity & other Indices 54 ) > %
Equity - FX correlation (34) 70 (44) -64 %
Equity to equity correlation 12 98 16 93 %
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component is referred to as upfront price points and represents
the difference between the: credit spread paid as protection
premium on a current contract versus a small number of
standard contracts defined by the market. Distressed credit
names frequently trade and quote CDS protection only in
upfront points rather than as a running credit spread. An
increase / (decrease) in upfront points will increase / (decrease)
the value of credit protection offered by CDS and other credit
derivative products. The effect of increases or decreases in
upfront price points depends on the nature and direction of the
positions held. Upfront price points may be negative where a
contract is quoting for a narrower premium than the market
standard, but are generally positive, reflecting an increase in
credit premium required by the market as creditworthiness
deteriorates.

Loss severity / recovery rate

The projected loss severity / recovery rate reflects the estimated
loss that will be realized given expected defaults. Loss severity is
generally applied to collateral within asset-backed securities
while the recovery rate is the analogous pricing input for
corporate or sovereign credits. Recovery is the reverse of loss
severity, so a 100% recovery rate is the equivalent of a 0% loss
severity. Increases in loss severity levels’/ decreases in recovery
rates will result in lower expected cash flows into the structure
upon the default of the instruments. In general, a significant
decrease /*(increase) in the loss severity in isolation would result
in significantly higher / (lower) fair value for the respective asset-
backed securities. The effect of a change in recovery rate on a
credit derivative position will - depend on whether credit
protection has been bought or sold.

Loss severity is ultimately driven by the value recoverable from
collateral held after foreclosure occurs relative to the loan
principal and possibly unpaid interest accrued at that point. For
credit derivatives, the loss severity range applies to derivatives on
asset-backed securities. The recovery rate range represents the
range of expected recovery levels on credit derivative contracts
within the Level 3 portfolio.

The volatility of interest rates reflects the range of
unobservable volatilities across different currencies and related
underlying interest rate levels. Volatilities of low interest rates
tend to be much higher than volatilities of high interest rates. In
addition, different currencies may have significantly different
implied volatilities. The volatility of equity stocks, equity and
other indices reflects. the range of underlying stock volatilities.
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Equity dividend yields )

The derivation of a forward price for an individual stock or index
is important for measuring fair value for forward or swap
contracts and for measuring fair value using option pricing

. models. The relationship between the current stock price and

the forward price is based on a combination of expected future
dividend levels and payment timings, and, to a lesser extent, the
relevant funding rates applicable to the stock in question.
Dividend vyields are generally expressed as an annualized
percentage of the share price with the lowest limit of 0%
representing a stock that is not expected to pay any dividend.
The dividend yield and timing represents the most significant
parameter in determining fair value for instruments that are
sensitive to an equity forward price.



g) Level 3 instruments: sensitivity to changes in
unobservable input assumption -

The table below summarizes those financial assets and liabilities
classified as Level 3 for which a change in one or more of the
unobservable inputs to reflect reasonably possible alternative
assumptions would change fair value significantly, and the
estimated effect thereof. '

The table shown presents the favorable and unfavorable
effects for each class of financial assets and liabilities for which
the potential change in fair value is considered significant. The

_ sensitivity data presented represent an estimation of valuation
uncertainty based on reasonably possible alternative values for
Level 3 inputs at the balance sheet date and do not represent
the estimated effect of stress scenarios. Typically, these financial
assets and liabilities are sensitive to-a combination of inputs from
Levels 1-3. Although well-defined interdependencies may exist

between Levels 1-2 and Level 3 parameters (e.g., between

interest rates, which are generally Level 1 or Level 2, and
prepayments, which are generally Level 3), these have not been
incorporated in the table. Further, direct inter-relationships
between the Level 3 parameters discussed below are not a
significant element of the valuation uncertainty.

Sensitivity data are estimated using a number of techniques
including the estimation of price dispersion among different

_sensitivities.

market participants, variation in modeling approaches and
reasonably possible changes to assumptions used within the fair
value measurement process. The sensitivity ranges are not
always symmetrical around the fair values as the inputs used in
valuations are not always precisely in the middle of the favorable
and unfavorable range.

Sensitivity data are determined at a product or parameter
level and then aggregated assuming no diversification benefit.
The calculated sensitivity is applied to both.the outright position
and any related Level 3 hedge. The main interdependencies
across different Level 3 products to a single unobservable input
parameter have been included in the basis of netting exposures
within the calculation. Aggregation without allowing for
diversification involves the simple summation of individual results
with the total sensitivity, therefore representing the effect of all
unobservable inputs which, if moved to a reasonably.possible
favorable or unfavorable level at the same time, would result in
a significant change in the valuation. Diversification would
incorporate estimated correlations across different sensitivity
results and, as such, would result in an overall sensitivity that
would be less than the sum of the individual component
The Company believes that, while there are
diversification benefits within the portfolios representing these
sensitivity numbers, they are not significant to this analysis.

Sensitivity of fair value measurements to changes in unobservable input assumptions

GBP 000s 31.12.16 31.12.15
Favourable Unfavourable Favourable  Unfavourable
changes changes changes changes
Government bills/bonds
Corporatebonds and municipal bonds, |nc|ud|ng bonds issued by financial msntunons ....... 16 (1.5) ..... 3 (3)
Equnymstruments ........................ o (734) ...... i (557)..
%quity/indek derivative contracts, net mmmm— ™" 5 (5) 14 (14)
Total 703 (756) 563

(574)

h) Level 3 instruments: movements during the period

Significant changes in Leve! 3 instruments

Assets transferred into and out of Level 3 totaled GBP 320
million and GBP 29 million, respectively. Transfers into Level 3
were primarily comprised of interest rate contracts and loans
(including structured loans) due to decreased observability of the
respective rates volatility and credit spread inputs. Transfers out
of Level 3 were primarily comprised of foreign exchange rate
contracts, reflecting increased observability of foreign exchange
rate volatility inputs.

Liabilities transferred into and out of Level 3 totaled GBP 283
million and GBP 140 million, respectively. Transfers into Level 3’
were primarily comprised of interest rate contracts, structured
over-the-counter debt instruments .and loans, due to decreased
observability of the respective rates volatility and credit spread
inputs used to determine the fair value of the embedded options
in these structures. Transfers out of Level 3 were primarily
comprised of structured repurchase agreements and foreign
exchange rate contracts, reflecting increased observability of the
respective discount rates of applicable funding curves and
foreign exchange rate volatility inputs.
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Movements of level 3 instruments’

Total géins/losses included in the
income statement

,

of which: related

to Level 3
instruments held
Balance asat 31 . ' - atthe end of the
GBP million . December 2015 Net income regorting period Purchases
Financial assets held for tading 7 (19) e 13
OO —— o1 ersrsie e s sese s esessens e s ne s ebs e nnas
Corporate bonds, municipal bonds, including bonds issued by financial institutions e G & e
...... Loans e ' : IO L /-
Equity instruments 7 ) - 7
Positive replacement values 601 {32) (39) -
S DTBID s '
Interest rate contracts 125
Credit derivative contracts 4 . 04
Foreign Exchange contracts o 248
Equitylindex conracts 123
Commodiities contracts ] - - -
Financial assets designated at fair value 252 17 12 -
0/ WI”.C/I- ------ etreetrrareresaeentraanabrneeareeisnresans T vessereresasasessssnaneesterenesen
St/u‘TurEd/oa”S ....................................................................... reree Ig ,3
Structured reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowing agreements 248 - - e
Fquity instruments . 4 2) )
Financial investments available-for-sale . 2 - - -
...... of which: “ serareneanranen FOTYS FETTFITN . sesanr
Equity instruments ) . 2 - . .
Total financial assets 862 (34§ (32) 13
Trading portfolio liabilities 6 17) (1) 65
of which: . .
Comporate bonds, municipal bonds, including bonds issued by financial institutions - 7
LOBS ..o oo crssesssnssessssssssssss s s s sssssssssss s sssssssssses (1) y
/nvq.%{?(fent fndums - 4
Fquiyy instruments - - - 60
Negative replacement values - 601 (46) (53) -
of which: . RN
Interest rate contracts 125 e ] /s meesesssessaersaenseanen
Credit deriative contracts e -t - {2 s
Fa/e/gn'[}.((‘hange contracts 248 B3 A1) e
Uiy dex COnlraCls 123 217) (18) -
Commodities contracts ! . - - -
Financial fiabilities designated at fair value . 258 17 12 -
OO —
_________ ructured over-the-counter debt instruments. 4. 17 12 -
Structured repurchase agreements 254 - - -
Total finandial liabilities 865 (45) (42 65
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:
’ Transfers into  Transfers out of Foreign Currency  Balance as at 31
Sales Issuances Settlements ) level 3 Level 3 Translation  December 2016
(106) 106 - 51 - 5 58
o 7 e 5 ] B
...... L7 .2 . “ : -7
it - - 2 - -
s - 115 (286) 173 (29) - 87 . 628
: 48 279
......... () 2 89
(16) 19 oo, &,
............ 7 8 169,
' - 7
- 16 - 279
I 0 % 18 ol
..... y /— y 238
- (1) - !
- - - - - 2
............... s - - 5
(106) - 221 (388) 320 (29) 108 - 967
" (155) 105 - 48 - 4 57
...... T 3 o iy
e Uz e “ oo 3. 57
...................... ) . oo . reverenren e -
(60) - ’ - ] - - ’ -
- 11 (282) 194 (29) 79 628
......................... - B ress . i
e : 7 1 7R 2
; (130) ..o s (1e.... 3
..... 1 2. g .. 74
- 63 (91) - 96 - 15
. E G % 3 A
- 63 - - - 317
(155) 279 (374) 338 (29) 97 1,042
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i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table reflects the estimated fair values for UBS Limited's financial instruments not measured at fair value.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

-

The fair values included in the table above were calculated for
disclosure purposes only. The fair value valuation techniques and
assumptions described below relate only to the fair value of UBS

Limited’s financial instruments not measured at fair value. Other

institutions may use different methods and assumptions for their
fair value estimation, and therefore such fair value disclosures
cannot necessarily be compared from -one financial institution to
another. UBS Limited applies significant judgments and
assumptions to arrive at these fair values, which are more
holistic and less sophisticated than the Company’s established
fair value and model governance policies and processes applied

to financial instruments accounted for at fair value whose fair -

values impact the Company’s balance sheet and net profit. The

following principles were applied when determining fair value

estimates for financial instruments not measured at fair value:

— For financial instruments with remaining maturities greater
than three months, the fair value was determined from
quoted market prices, if available. _ i

- Where quoted market prices were not available, the fair
values were estimated by discounting contractual cash flows
using current market interest rates or appropriate yield curves
for instruments with similar credit risk and maturity. These
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31.12.16 31.12.15 (restatement)
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value

GBP million Total Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total Level 1 . Level2 Level 3
Assets

Cash and balances with central banks ) 3 3 - - 5 -y 5 e
Due from banks 1,054 1,054 - 841 841 841 Z -
Cash collateral on securites borrowed® 2,799 2,799 279 O C 3047 3,047 —"3.047 Z
Reverse repqr:éﬁg_s_g agreements e 2 ,638 2,638 - 2,638 - ....... 2,973 2,973 = 2,973 —
ﬁi:?urcr?ell:ttseral receivable on derivative 6,490 6,490 _ 6,490 _ 6,027 6,027 _ 6,027 -
Loans and advances to customers . 1,052 1,054 - 765 288 791 788 - 533 255
Srfzmmgg“ due from group m m - m - 150 150 - %0 -
Other assets 14 114 - T Y - e -
Liabilltjes bessasnnsans

Due to banks 2,115 - 2,309
Cash collateral on securities lent! . 228 228 = 4

Repu}chase ag[gementk 3412 3472 - 3472 . - 4,021

Ca ivati

ins::'u;?e":ttseml payables on derivative 6,153 6,153 _ 6,153 _ 5,966

S

S;th:’gz;:“ owed to group 16 16 - 116 - 127
B o . - o i i

1 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed and lent has been restated downwards by £664m. Refer to Note 1b for more information. 4

estimates generally include adjustments for counterparty
credit or UBS's own credit. . ‘
For short-term financial instruments with remaining maturities
of three months or less, the carrying amount, which is net of .
credit loss allowances, is generally considered a reasonable
estimate of fair value. The following financial instruments not
measured at fair value had remaining maturities of three
months or less as of 31 December 2016: 100% of cash and
balances with central banks, 100% of amounts due from
banks, 100% of cash collateral on securities borrowed, 81%
of reverse repurchase agreements, 100% of cash collateral
receivables on derivatives, 73% of loans, 64% of amounts
due to banks, 100% of cash collateral on securities lent, 51%
of repurchase agreements, 100% of cash collateral payable
on derivatives and 100% of amount due to customers.

The fair value estimates for repurchase and reverse
repurchase agreements with variable and fixed interest rates,
for all maturities, include the valuation of the interest rate
component of these instruments. Credit and debit valuation
adjustments have not been included in the valuation due to,
the short-term nature of these instruments.



Note 25 Restricted and transferred financial assets

a) Restricted financial assets’

Restricted financial assets consist of. assets pledged as collateral
against an existing liability or contingent liability and other assets
which are otherwise explicitly restricted such that they cannot be
used to secure funding. .
Financial assets are mainly pledged as collateral in securities
lending transactions and in repurchase transactions. ‘The
Company generally enters into repurchase and securities lending
arrangements under standard market agreements, with a
market based haircut applied to the collateral, which results in

Restricted financial assets

the associated liabilities having a carrying, value below the
carrying value of the assets. ‘

Other restricted financial assets include assets protected
under client asset segregation rules. The carrying value of the
liabilities associated with these other restricted financial assets is
generally equal to the carrying value of the assets.

The Company holds £2,294 million of client money under
client segregation rules of which £157 million is included in cash
and cash equivalents, (2015: £1,840 million, of which £232
million is included in cash and cash equivalents).

GBP million ' 31.12.16 31.12.15
Financial assets pledged as collateral '
b foho;ssets ........................................................ e 2463
ot which: ;;}595 pledged as collateral which /nay be sold or repledged by counterparties 3038 2,462
Total financial assets pledged as collateral 3,038 2,463

Other restricted financial assets

Due from banks

Cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments 2,137 1,607
Total other restricted financial assets 2,294 1,840
Total finandial assets pledged and other restricted financial assets \ 5,332 4,303

b) Transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety

The table below presents information for financial assets, which have been transferred but are subject to continued recognition in
full, as well as recognized liabilities associated with those transferred assets.

Transferred financial assets subject to continued recognition in full

GBP million .

31.12.16 31.12.15
Carrying value of
Carrying value of associated
associated liabilities X liabilities
Carrying value of recognized on Carrying value of recognized on

transferred assets balance sheet  transferred assets balance sheet

Trading portfolio assets pledged or transferred which may be sold or repledged by
counterparties

relating to securities lending and repurchase agreements in exchange for cash received 885 873
relating to securilies lendling agreements in .é;;/;..ange for securties received 2150 -
...... relating to other financial asset transfers a7 -

Total financial assets transferred 3,038 873

Transactions whereby financial assets are transferred, but
continue to be recognized in their entirety on the Company’s
balance sheet include securities lending and repurchase
agreements as well as other financial asset transfers. Repurchase
agreements and securities lending agreements are discussed in

Note 1a: Basis of accounting. Repurchase and securities lending
arrangements are, for the most part, conducted under standard
market agreements, and are undertaken with counterparties

subject to the Company’s normal credit risk control processes.

As of 31 December 2016, approximately 29% (2015: 33%) of
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the transferred financial assets were trading portfolio assets
transferred in exchange for cash, in which case the associated
recognized liability represents the amount to be repaid to
counterparties. For securities’ lending and  repurchase
agreements, a haircut between 0% and. 15% is generally
applied to the collateral, which results in associated liabilities
having a carrying value "below the carrying value of the
transferred assets. The counterparties to the associated liabilities
presented in the table above have full recourse to the Company.
In securities lending arrangements entered into in exchange for
the receipt of other securities as collateral; neither the securities
received nor the obligation to return them are recognized on the
Company's balance sheet as the risks and rewards of ownership
are not transferred to the Company In cases where such
financial assets received are subsequently sold or repledged in

Off balance sheet assets received

another transaction, this is not considered to be a transfer of
financial assets. '

Other financial asset transfers primarily include securities
transferred to collateralize derivative transactions, for which the
carrying value of associated liabilities is not provided in the table
above because those replacement values are managed on a
portfolio basis across counterparties and product types, and
therefore is not a direct relationship between the specific
collateral pledged and the associated liability.

c) Off balance sheet assets received

The table below presents assets received that can be sold or
repledged, that are not recognized on the balance sheet, but
that are held as collateral, including amounts that have been
sold or repledged. .

GBP million 31.12.16 311215

Fair value of securities and gold received which can be sold or repledged 29111 31,755
received 35 collateral under reverse /epurc/:ase securities borrowmg and/ena’mg .‘;.r‘f'angement derivative transactions and other transactions! - 289/5 ............ 3 0209
''''' received in unsecured borrowings o R 196 l; 546

Thereof sold or repledged: 25,445 28,284
in connection with financing activities 14,382 19,406
To satisfy com.r};;i;ﬁents under short sale transactlons ......... 5,558 4640
.i;lﬂébnnection with derivative transactions® 5,505 4239

.1 Includes securities received as initial margin from its clients that the Company is required to remit to central clearing counterpames brokers and deposit banks through its exchange-traded derivative (ETD)

clearing and execution services._
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Note 26 Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

The Company enters into netting agreements with
counterparties- to manage the credit risks associated primarily
with repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions, securities
borrowing and lending and over-the-counter and exchange-
traded derivatives. These netting agreements and similar
arrangements generally enable the counterparties to offset
liabilities against available assets received in the ordinary course
of business and / or in the event that the counterparty to the
transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations. The
right to offset is a legal right to settle or otherwise eliminate all
or a portion of an amount due by applying an amount receivable
from the same counterparty against it, thus reducing credit
exposure. . .

From a balance sheet presentation perspective, the criteria for

offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities are highly.

restrictive. UBS Limited offsets financial assets and financial
liabilities on its balance sheet only when it has a currently
“enforceable legal right to offset the respective recognized
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. In assessing the
criteria for a relevant set of facts and circumstances, emphasis is
placed on the effectiveness of the operational mechanics of net
or simultaneous settlements in eliminating all credit and liquidity
exposure between counterparties at the time of settlement.
These criteria preclude offsetting on the balance sheet for

substantial amounts of the Company’s financial assets and
liabilities, even if these amounts may be subject to enforceable
netting arrangements. For derivative contracts, balance sheet
offsetting is generally only permitted in circumstances in which a
market settlement mechanism (e.g., an exchange or clearing
house) exists which effectively accomplishes net settlement
through a daily cash margining process. Bilateral OTC derivatives
and exchange traded derivatives that are not margined on a
daily basis are commonly precluded from offsetting on the
balance sheet unless a mechanism. exists to provide for net
settlement of the cash flows arising from these contracts. For
repurchase arrangements and securities financings, balance
sheet offsetting may be permitted only to the extent that
financial assets and liabilities with a counterparty have the same
maturity date and are settled through a clearing process by
which intra-day credit and liquidity exposures are substantially
eliminated. Thus, repurchase and securities. financing
arrangements that are not cleared through a formal mechanism,
such as a clearing house or exchange, are generally not offset on
the balance sheet. ,

The Company engages in a variety of counterparty credit
mitigation strategies in addition to netting .and collateral
arrangement. Therefore the net amounts presented in the tables
on the following pages do not purport to represent the
Company's actual credit exposure.
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a) Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable
master netting arrangenients and similar agreements

The table below provides a summary of financial assets subject
to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and
similar agreements, as well as financial collateral received to
mitigate credit exposures for these financial assets. The gross
financial assets of the Company that are subject to offsetting,

reconciled to the net amounts presented within the associated
balance sheet line, after giving effect to financial liabilities with
the same counterparties that have been offset on the balance
sheet and other financial assets not subject to an enforceable
netting arrangement or similar agreement. Further, related
amounts for financial liabilities and collateral received that are
not offset on the balance sheet are shown to arrive at financial

assets after consideration of netting potential.

enforceable netting arrangements and similar agreements are

Offsetting financial assets

31.12.16

" Netting potential not
recognized in the balance

Assets subject to netting arrangements sheet?
Assets not
subject to
enforceable
Balance sheet Assets Assets after netting
Gross assets  netting with  recognized on consideration  arrangementsor  Total assets
before balance gross the balance Financial Collateral of netting similar  recognized on
GBP million sheet netting liabilities? sheet, net liabilities received potential ‘agreements? _the balance sheet
Cash collateral on securities borrowed 2,758 - 2,758 (14) (2,744) - 41 2,799
Reverse repurchase agreements 8,039 (5,492) 2,546 (466) (2,080) - 91 2,
Positive replacement values 17,413 (679} 16,734 (12,794) (2,952) 988 716 17,
Cash collaterat receivables on derivative ) '
instruments® 5,652 - 5,652 (2,199) (941) 2,512 837 6,490
Financial assets designated at fair value 343 - 343 - (292) 51 3,588 3931
Total assets 34,205 (6.171) 28,034 (15,473) (9,009) 3,551 5,275 33,308
31.12.15 (restated)
Netting potential not
recognized in the balance
Assets subject to netting arrangements sheet3
Assets not
subject to
N enforceable
Balance sheet . Assets Assets after netting
Gross assets  netting with  recognized on consideration ~ arrangements or Total assets
before balance gross the balance Financial Collateral of netting similar  recognized on
GBP million sheet netting liabilities? sheet, net liabilities received potential agreements® _the balance sheet
Cash collateral on securities borrowed® 2,958 - 2,958 1. (2,959) - 89 3,047
. Reverse repurchase agreements 10,677 (7,902) 2,775 (1,405) (1,371) - 198 2,973
Positive replacement values 17,832 (696) 17,136 (13,964) (1,878) 1,294 532 17,668,
Cash collate,ral receivables on derivative 6,384 (1,299) 5,085~ (1,747) (1,792) " 1,546 942 6,027
instruments .
Financial assets designated at fair value 399 o 399 e (198) 201 267 666
Total assets 38,250 (9,897) 28,353. (17,115) (8,198) 3,040 . 2,028 30,381

1 The net amount of Cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments recognized on the balance sheet includes certain OTC devivatives which -are in substance net settled on a daily basis under tAS 32, interest
rate swaps (IRS) with the Ltondon Clearing House (LCH) which are legally settled on a daily basis and ETD which are economically settled on a daily basis. In 2016 UBS elected to convert its IRS transacted with the
LCH from the previous collateral model to a settlement model. As a result, gross assets and liabilities and corresponding netting decreased by £2.6 billion as of 31 December 2016, with no change to net assets and

 liabilities recognized on the balance sheet. Refer to Note 1b for more information. In addition, this balance includes OTC and ETD cash collateral balances which correspond with the cash portion of collateral pledged,
reflected on the Negative replacement values line in the table presented on the following page. 2 The logic of the table results in amounts presented in the “Netting with gross liabilities” column corresponding
directly to the amounts presented in the "Netting with gross assets” column in the liabilities table presented on the following page. 3 For the purpose of this disclosure, the amounts of financial instruments and
cash collateral presented have been capped by the relevant netting agreement so as not to exceed the net amount of financial assets presented on the balance sheet; i.e., over-collateralization, where it exists, is not
reflected in the table. 4 Includes assetsnot subject to enforceable netting arrangements and other out-of-scope items. 5 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed has been restated downwards by £664m.
Refer to Note 1b for more information. .
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b) Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable
master netting arrangements and similar agreements

Offsetting financial liabilities .
31.12.16 -
Netting potential not
. recognized in the balance
Liabilities subject to netting arrangements sheet?
Liabilities not
subject to
) enforceable
Liabilities Liabilities after netting
Gross liabilities Balance sheet  recognized on ’ “consideration ~ arrangements or  Total liabilities
before balance  netting with the balance Financial Collateral of netting similar  ‘recognized on
GBP million sheet netting __gross assets? sheet, net assets pledged potential* agreements _the balance sheet
Cash collateral on securities lent 228 - 228 - (14) (214) - - 228
Repurchase agreements © 8,962 (5,492) 3,470 (466) - (3,004). . - 2 3,472
Negative replacement values 17,544 (679) 16,865 (12,794) (2,547) 1,523 1,040 17,904
Cash collateral payables on derivative : _ : '
instruments’ . 5,298 5,298 (2,199) (918) 2,180 855 6,153
\F’Lr;la]:ctal liabilities designated at fair 664 ~ 664 _ (407) 257 59 724
Total liabilities ’ 32,696 (6,171) 26,525 (15,474) (7,091) 3,960 1,956 . 28,481
31.12.15 (restated)
Netting potential not
recognized in the balance
Liabilities subject to netting arrangements sheet?
’ Liabilities not
subject to
enforceable
: Liabilities : Liabilities after netting :
Gross liabilities  Balance sheet  recognized on consideration  arrangements or  Total liabilities
before balance ‘ netting with the balance Financial Collateral ‘of netting similar  recognized on
GBP million sheet netting _gross assets? sheet, net assets pledged _potential* agreements the balance sheet
Cash collateral on securities lent® 4 - 4 1 - 5 - 4
Repurchase agreements 11,767 (7,902) 3,866 (1,405) (2,461) i - 156 4,021
Negative replacement values . 18,038 (696) 17,342 (13,964) (1,877) 1,501 698 18,040
Cash collateral payables on derivative ' .
instruments 6,214 (1,299) 4,915 (1,678) (2,429) 808 1,051 5,966
C;r;j:aal liabilities designated at fair 595 _ 595 _ (28) 319 133 728
Total liabilities 36,617 (9,897) 26,721 (17,045) (7,042) 2,633 2,038 28,759

1 The net amount of Cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments recognized on the balance sheet includes certain OTC derivatives which are in substance net settled on a daily basis under IAS 32, interest
rate swaps {IRS) with the London Clearing House {LCH) which are legally settled on a daily basis and ETD which are economically settled on a daily basis. In 2016 UBS elected to convert its IRS transacted with the
LCH from the previous collateral model to a settlement model. As a result, gross assets and liabilities and corresponding netting decreased by £2.6 billion as of 31 December 2016, with no change to net assets and
liabilities recognized on the balance sheet. Refer to Note 1b for more information. tn addition, this balance includes OTC and ETD cash collatera! balances which correspond with the cash portion of collateral pledged,
reflected on the Negative replacement values line in the table presented on the following page. 2 The logic of the table results in amounts presented in the “Netting with gross liabilities” column corresponding
directly to the amounts presented in the “Netting with gross assets” column in the liabilities table presented on the following page. 3 For the purpose of this disclosure, the amounts of financial instruments and
cash collateral presented have been capped by the relevant netting agreement so as not to exceed the net amount of financial assets presented on the balance sheet; i.e., over-collateralization, where it exists, is not
reflected in the table. 4 Includes assets not subject to enforceable netting arrangements and other out-of-scope items. 5 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed has been restated downwards by £664m.
Refer to Note 1b for more information. : .
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Note 27 Financial assets and liabilities — additional information

a) Measurement categories of financial assets and financial instruments as defined in IAS 32 Financial Instruments:

liabilities ‘ Presentation are included in the table below, which causes
_ certain balances to differ from those presented on the balance

The table below provides information about the carrying sheet.

amounts of individual classes of financial instruments within the Refer to Note 24: Fair value measurement for more

measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities as information on how fair value of financial instruments is

defined in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and determined. :

Measurement. Only those assets and liabilities which are

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities

31.12.15

GBP million ' 311216 (restated)
Financial assets
Fair value through profit or lass, held for trading : . -

i B&iﬁ)lio L e 3770
"P"o's.i.t'i'\;é"r.éi:;lacement values L mmm—m———— Jrmmmmm——-n— =  sGSm"w L =  — — — 17,451 1 7668
Total 22,188 21,438
Fair value through profit o loss e —
Financial assets designated at fair value ) 3,931, 666

Financial assets at amortized cost ‘

Cash and balances with central banks mmmmm——" 3 Ty
P
"C"a;;.hugo.l-llateral on' 'securities borrowed 2,799 3,047
o, et e B, 2973
.Cash coll:;leral receivables on derivative instru;1-1.s'.'.r;is ................. 6,490 6027
Loansandadvancestocustomers ................ o 791
Other amounts due from group undertakings ' 222 150
Other assets 109 T4
Total ‘ ] v 14369 13,978
Available-for-sale
“Finandial investments available-forsale . 123 . 3163
Total financial assets - ‘ 40,610 39,245

Financial liabilities

...... 5819 4,787
17,904 18,040
23,724 22,827

Fair value through profit or loss, other
Financial liabilities designated at fair value 724 728
Financiat liabilities at amortized cost

Cash collateral on securities lent!
_Repurchase agreements

Cash collateral payables on derivative instrumel
Due to customers
QOther amounts owed to group undertakings
o hahllmes
Total . : . ©o13157 12,764
Total financial liabilities 37,604 36,319
1 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed and lent has been restated downwards by £664m. Refer to Note 1b for more information.
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b) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities

The contractual. maturities of non-derivative and non-trading
financial liabilities as of 31 December 2016 ‘are based on the
earliest date on which UBS Limited could be contractually
required to pay. The total amounts that contractually mature in
each time-band are also shown for 31 December 2015.
Derivative positions and trading liabilities, predominantly made
up of short sale transactions, are assigned to the column 'Due
within 1 month’, as this provides a conservative reflection of the
nature of these trading activities. The contractual maturities may
extend over significantly longer periods.

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities ,

"Only financial instruments are required to be disclosed in the
maturity analysis therefore certain’ items including deferred
income, deferred tax liabilities and provisions are excluded from
the table above. .

. Trading and derivative positions are presented in the ‘On
demand’ column. Management believes that such presentation
most accurately reflects the short térm nature of trading
activities. The contractual maturity of the instruments may,
extend over significantly longer periods.

The analysis for the current year is based on undiscounted
cash flows and includes future interest payments.

31.12.16
) Due between Due between
‘ Due within 1 Due within 3and 12 tand5 Due after 5

GBP million On demand month 3 months months years years To_tal
Liabilities -

Dueto ban}(s ...... 621 400 73

Cash collateral on securities lent o 182 -

Repurchase agreements 892 309 1,701

Trading ponfol‘is'l'[;bili!ies - ol -

Negative replac:.;;l.éht vaives D - -
“Cash &i)ifé{ééﬁayable on derivative instruments - - -

Financial Iiabilitié;designated at fair value 20 - 261

Due to customers . . 164 - -

Other a'mount.s"t.);v.éd to group undertak'iirlaé:: ...... - 116 e -

B BB i e - —

Total 31,540 1,905 891 2,035

Financial liabilities not recognized on the balance sheet
o ot
Loan commitments o 2,021 - - - ~T
G st es s e : ——— - = - s
o eeeheEe L et sRe SR SRR SRRSO S LRSS RSP RFS RS AR RS SR SRR R LR SRR ek SRR SO SeR RS R SRR R sE b SRS R LR RS SRRRes
R Sosbedvvivert oSO - T - - - - X
Securities borrowing agreements ’ ~ 7 - - - - Y
Total 2,026 3,153 - - - - 5,179
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31.12.15 (restated)

‘Due between Due between

Due within  Due within 3and 12 1and5 Due after 5

GBP million On demand 1 month 3 months months - years years Total
" Liabilities

Duetobanks . mmmmmm—" 708 377 380 g 177 635 2326

Cash collateral. on securities entt 4 N . N - rmmmm 4

Repurchase a.ér'eements ..... 415 1,385 -\ - ’

Trading portolio fiablties .AT81 e - o -

Negative replacementvalues """ 18,040 e - e raesseeneeren - - :

Cash collateral payable on derivative instruments 5,966 - - T T - 5:§66

Financial liabilities designated at fair valve - - it 32 550 """""" o 704

Due to customers R - - I - - 231

Other amounts owed to group undertakings - 127 R - - - 127

Other liabilities : 2 87 Z Z - z 89

Total 30,212 1,829 1,320 1,466 727 745 36,299

Financial liabilities not recognized on the balancesheet ... .

Commitments S

Loan commitments 1:646 - N N

T et = - - - - "

G 5 - - coneonne - - . 2

Reverse repurchase agreements - - 3,671 - e, - - ’ 3,671

Securities borrowing agreements - 1 - - - - 7

Total . 1,649 ' 3,672 - - - - 5,321

1 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed and lent has been restated downwards by £664m. Refer to Note 1b for more information,

The financial assets recorded on the balance sheet are expected to settle or mature within the next 12 months with the exception of
the following amounts which are due after greater than 1 year; Financial investments £54 million (2015: £784 million), Financial
assets at fair value £1,438 million (2015: £617 million) and Loans £218 million (2015: £209 million). ‘
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Note 28 Retirement benefit plan

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which theA

Company pays - fixed contributions; there is no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions. The assets
of the plan are held separately from those of the Company in a
fund under the control of trustees.” The total expense charged
to income of £68 thousand (2015: £53 thousand) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Company at rates
spécified in the rules of the plan.

Note 29 Share capital

Defined benefit plan

Defined benefit plans relate to benefits for Italian employees as
required under Italian law, Trattamento di Fine Rapport ("TFR").
TFR requires one month salary for each year of service to be paid
to an employee when they leave employment. The present value
of the obligation recorded in the balance sheet is £1.3m as at 31
December 2016 (2015: nil). The Company reported no such
liability in its 2015 Financial Statements as the'merger with UBS
Italia SIM S.p.A had not taken place as at 31 December 2015.

Regulated share capital

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Aliotted, called up and fully paid! )
226,619,765 ordinary shares of £1 each : \ 227 ’ - 227

1 The Company removed the limit on its authorised share capital in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 with effect from 18 March 2011.

The primary objectives of the Company’s capital management
are to ensure that the Company has sufficient resources to
support the Company’s existing and planned business and in
doing so complies with the PRA's capital requirements. The
Company determines
comprehensive planning approach that takes account of
projected business activity and after performing stress and
scenario testing in accordance with internal and PRA
requirements. The mix of instruments comprising regulatory
capital is periodically reviewed to ensure the efficient allocation
of resources from a Company and broader group perspective.

its capital - requirements through a

The Company has been subject to the Capital Requirements
Directive 2013/48/EC  and calculates minimum capital
requirements under the Capital Requirements Regulation
575/2013, the associated implementing and delegated acts and
the supporting technical standards of the directive and the
regulation and the relevant regulations of the PRA. These
requirements set out the capital a firm has to hold to underpin
the solvency requirements related to credit, market and
operational risk. The Company has met its regulatory obligations
throughout the year.

~
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The regulatory capital of the Company comprises the following:

Basel Il capital information UBS Limited

I's

GBP million, except where /m_//’fared 31.12.16 31.12.15
Tier 1 capital 2,756 2,803
of whf(};.: .cnommon.equ/fy der 1 capital L m—mmm——m—— 2521 ) 2 568
T e 7 587
Total capital 3,442 3,390

The regulatory capital of UBS Limited is comprised of Common
Equity Tier 1, Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital less any
deductions specified under the Capital Requirements Regulation.
Further details of the components of the regulatory capital of
the Company and any relevant deductions made can be found
in the UBS Limited Pillar 3 disclosures. Tier 1 capital includes a
subordinated ‘loan. The loan has no fixed maturity and will not

Note 30 Dividends

be repayable at any time at the option of UBS AG and therefore
is treated as equity and is classified as Additional Tier 1 capital
for regulatory purposes. Movements “in tier 1 capital include
changes in accumulated reserves and capital deductions for
deferred tax assets, prudential valuation, own credit and
derivative valuation adjustments.

Dividends paid and proposed

GBP million 31.12.16 31.12.15
Declared and paid during the year: ) )

'B};idends s
Final dividend for 2015: mil (2014: 22.3 pence per share) - 51 '
lntenm dividend for 2016: 87.81 pence per share (2015: i) o mmmmmmm 199 _____

Total dividend declared and paid during the year 199 51

Proposed for approval at the annual general meeting:

Dividends on ordinary shares:

Final dividend for 2016: nil (2015 nil)
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Note 31 Related party transactions

The Company has significant related party balances and
transactions with UBS AG and its subsidiaries. - The Company
enters into these transactions in the ordinary course of business
and on substantially the same terms as for comparable
transactions with third-party counterparties.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of UBS AG and is
included in its group accounts. UBS AG, a Company
incorporated with limited liability in Switzerland, is the
immediate parent undertaking. \ :

Balance sheet

UBS AG has made, and continues to make, available a
number of its employees to be engaged either on a full-time or
part-time basis in the performance of certain functions or
operations in connection with the Company’s business and
recharges those costs under administrative expenses.

The related party balances and transactions included under

" various captions within the Balance Sheet and Income Statement
_ are as follows: '

31.12.16
Other group

GBP million UBS AG companies Total
Assets )
Due from banks 46§ 20 483 .
Gash ollteral on securtes borrowed et 2500 . B 2575

“Trading portfolio assets rmmmmmmmm— 12 16 28

Reverse repurchase agreements 408 - 408

............ T G 550

"""" 1,285 1377 2622

P - s

- 229 229

....................... - 553

P B =

Total 2,409 15,847

Liabilities

Duetobanks 2,§66 20 - 2,586
s ; - 5

Repurchase agfggménts ...... 3,367 - 3,367
Trading portiolio liabilities , B - g
‘Negative replacement values ‘ 7,700 616 8316
Seemtemeavbreuaressssrarsares yRssataTPLATatseates e rRa et sa s bR RO SR S R SRR E SRS saTRS SRS Paasas erbRasTTRR s anadubum sastabatespLAT O SOE EITI S S8 .

Satfarvaive L mmmm————m—m" ) 494 - 494

L - i b
reenerenes g e

Other liabilities L mmmmmmmmmmmmm—mmm—m— 10 - 10

Total 16,586 1,525 18,111
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Balance sheet {continued)
31.12.15 (restated)
: Other group
GBP milfion : o UBS AG companies Total
Assets
Due from banks : ) 350 155
e e 279959
Reverse repurchase agreements ' 889 -
s I — i
"I;;;ft.ive replacement values 8,432

Cash collateral receivable on derivative instruments 1,698

Financial assets at fair value 165
Other amounts due from group undertak?ngs ’ 149 B

G SR —— S

Total ' 14,526

Liabilities
._[?ue o banks . 1,976 155 2,131
Cash collateral for securities lent! commmmm—— o ] = - -
Re;.)urchase agreements L — emmmym - — e 7

Trading portfolio fiabilities Z
“Negative replacement values 647

Cash colla't'él.'gll Eé-);;ble on derivative instruments 391

.F""a';cial Iiabilil?es attairvaloe -

........... - 5

_(_)ther amounts owed to group undertakings e m—m———— nr 10
“Other liabilties o 134 17

Total . . 16,722 1,423

Income statement

31.12.2016
Other group

GBP million UBS AG companies
’!HE:EIES( andsimilar income e 17 9
Interest and similar expense A (145) (12)

Net fee and commission expense L —m——nm—9  —m vz 69 . (83)

Net trading i}i'c‘ome mmmm————w— {42) -

Other opera't'i.ri'g"i.r.l'come T ' 26 25
Gt L ‘ (527 ; B3

Total (502) (85)

31.12.2015
Other group

GBP million UBS AG companies Total
Interest and similar income ’ e A s s s s s et e = T D 86
Interest and similar expense ’ (98) (20) (118)
Net fee and commission expense o m—m——— - 13 (55) (42)
Net trading income ’ crmmmmm—— 78 - 78 :
Y operal.i-r;.g"i‘r;.c-(-)me ....................... 35 T E— o
e s e (488) ..... @ (492).
Total ‘ : (396) (83) (479)

1 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrawed and lent with related parties has been restated downwards by £497m. Refer to Note 1b for more information.

UBS AG has not granted any new loans or had any outstanding loans to the UBS Limited Board of Directors during the year.
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Note 32 Interests in subsidiaries and other entities

a) Interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

As at December 2016 and December 2015, the Company did
not hold any subsidiaries nor did it have any investments in
associates orjoint ventures. :

b) Interests in unconsolidated structured entities

The table below presents the Company’s interests in and
maximum exposure to loss from unconsolidated structured
entities as at 31 December 2016. In addition, the total assets
held by the structured entity in which the Company had an
interest as of 31 December 2016 are provided, except for

.investment funds sponsored by third parties, for which the

carrying value of the Company's interest has been disclosed.

~ The maximum exposure to loss disclosed in the table below
does not reflect the Company's risk management activities,
including effects from financial instruments that the Company
may utilize to economically hedge the risks inherent in the
unconsolidated structured entity or the risk reducing effects of
collateral or other credit enhancements.

During the year UBS Limited did not provide support,
financially or otherwise, to an unconsolidated structured entity,
nor has UBS Limited an intention to do so in the future. The
Company did not sponsor the creation of any structured entities
during 2016 (2015: nil).

Interest in unconsolidated structured entities

31.12.2016
Securitization ’ . Maximum expostire
GBP million vehicles  Client vehides Investment funds Total to loss*
Trading portfolio assets - . - 66 66 66
‘Positive replacement values 15 - Z 15 K
Total assets 15 - 66 81
Negative replacement values 1 - - 1 1
Total liabilities 1 - ~ 1
Assets held by the unconsolidated structured entities in which UBS had an interest 970 6392 66° .
31.12.2015
Securitizqtion Client vehicles [nvestment funds Total Maximum
GBP million vehicles exposure to loss
Trading portfolio assets - S 29 33 33
Positive replacement values L mmm—m——"m—"— 15 - - 15 15
Total assets P 15 -5 29 48
Negative Replacement values 2 - - 3 2 2
Total liabilities 2 - - 2
Assets held by the unconsolidated structured entities in which UBS had an interest 1,038 | 2,8082 293

1 Represents principal amount outstanding. 2 Represents the market value of total assets. 3 Represents the carrying value of UBS Limited interest in the investment funds not sponsored by the Company. 4 For
purposes of this disclosure, maximum exposure to loss amounts do not consider the risk reducing effects of collateral of other credit enhancements. ’

69



UBS Limited | Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

Note 33: Risk, treasury and capital management

Risk management and control

Risk catégories

The key financial and other significant risks faced by the
Company are described below.

Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a
client or counterparty to meet its contractual obligations. This
includes settlement risk and loan underwriting risk. Settlement
risk is the risk of loss resulting from transactions involving
exchange of value where we.must fulfill our obligation to deliver
without first being able to determine with certainty that we will
receive the counter value. Loan underwriting risk is the risk of
loss arising during the holding period of financing transactions
which are intended for further distribution.

Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in
general market risk factors (e.g., interest rates, equity index
levels, exchange rates, commodity prices and general credit
spreads) and changes in prices of debt and equity instruments
which resuit from factors and events specific to individual
companies or entities. Market risk includes issuer risk and
investment risk. Issuer risk is the risk of loss from changes in fair
value resulting from credit-related events affecting an issuer or
group of related issuers, including sovereigns, to which we are
exposed through tradable securities or derivatives referencing
the issuer. Investment risk refers to the issuer risk associated
with positions held as financial investments.

Country risk is the risk of .losses resulting from country-
specific events. It includes transfer risk, whereby a country’s
authorities prevent or restrict the payment of an obligation, as
“well as systemic risk events arising from country-specific political
or macroeconomic developments. ’

Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to generate sufficient
funds from assets to meet payment obligations when they fall
due, including in times of stress.

Funding risk is the risk of higher than expected funding costs
due to higher than expected UBS credit spreads when existing
funding positions mature and need to be rolled over, or replaced
by other more expensive funding sources. If a shortage of
available funding sources is expected in a stress event, funding
risk also covers potential additional losses from forced asset
sales. :

Operational Risk is the risk resulting from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external
causes (deliberate, accidental or natural). Events may be direct
financial losses or indirect in the form of revenue forgone as a
result of business suspension. They may also result in damage to
our reputation and to our franchise, which have longer term
financial consequences. Operational risk includes, among others,
legal risk, conduct risk and compliance risk.
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Legal risk is the risk of (i) the financial risk resulting from the
non-enforceability of a contract or the failure to assert non-
contractual rights, or (ii) the financial or reputational risk
resulting from UBS Limited being held liable for a contractual or
legal claim, or otherwise being subject to a penalty or liability in
a legal action, based on a contractual or other legal claim,
violation of law, or regulation, or infringement of intellectual
property rights, or failing to manage litigation or other actions
appropriately or effectively.

Conduct risk is the risk that the conduct of the firm or its
individuals unfairly impacts clients or counterparties, undermines
the integrity of the financial system or impairs effective
competition to the detriment of consumiers.

Compliance risk refers to the financial or reputational risk
incurred by UBS Limited by not adhering to the applicable laws,

'rul\es and regulations, local and international best practice

(including ethical standards) and” UBS Limited's own internal
standards.

Risk governance

The Company falls within the broader risk governance
framework of the UBS Group, which operates along three lines
of defence. Business management, as the first line of defence,
own their risk exposures and are required to maintain effective
processes and systems to manage their risks, including robust

.and comprehensive internal controls and documented

procedures. Business management must also have in place
appropriate supervisory controls and review processes to
highlight control weaknesses, inadequate processes and
unexpected events. Control functions act as the second line of
defence, providing independent oversight of primary and
consequential risks. This includes setting risk limits and
protecting against non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. Group Interna! Audit (GIA) forms the third line of
defence, evaluating the overall effectiveness of governance, risk
management and the control environment, including
consideration of how the first and second lines of defence meet
their objectives. The Board has established a Risk Committee of
the Board. The Risk Committee is comprised only of Non-
Executive Directors and is responsible for overseeing and
supporting the Board in fulfilling its duty to supervise and set
appropriate risk management and control principles. The CRO is
responsible for the implementation and enforcement of the risk
governance framework for the Company, including review and
approval of any policies deemed necessary to supplement the
UBS Group risk governance framework. The Committee met
four times in 2016 (2015 eight times).



Risk appetite framework

The Company’s risk appetite is defined as the aggregate level
and types of risk that it is willing to ‘accept or intends to avoid. It
is established via a complementary set of quahtatlve and
quantitative objectives.

The qualitative risk appetite statements have been established
for the UBS Group as a whole, reflected in the Group’s Risk
Management and Control Principles, and various policies and
initiatives, and these ensure the UBS Group maintains the

desired risk culture. They apply at all levels of the UBS Group,

including the Company.

The Board has established quantitative risk appetite objectives
for the Company covering capital, liquidity and funding, and
these are reviewed and approved at least annually by the Board.
These objectives: aim to ensure that the Company maintains
sufficient capital, liquidity and funding such that it can continue
to meet regulatory requirements and operate as a going concern
following severe adverse economic or geopolitical events. The
framework is comprehensive in aggregating all material risks
- across the Company.

The combination of the qualitative and quantitative risk
appetite statements aims to protect the Company’s business and
reputation in both normal and stressed environments.

These objectives are complemented by operational risk

appetite objectives, comprised of top-down financial thresholds’

which, if breached, require a senior management response to

investigate the nature and underlying cause of the control.

failures and ensure that appropriate remediation is put in place.

The status of the Company’'s risk appetite objectives is
evaluated and reported to the Risk Committee each quarter and
to the Audit Committee and the Board annually. The Company’s
risk appetite may change over time.and, as a consequence,
portfolio limits and risk authorities are subject to periodic
reviews and changes, in particular in the context of the annual
business planning process. In addition, primary day to day
management and-oversight of the liquidity and funding situation
of the Company is delegated to the Company’s Treasurer. This
includes measuring the liquidity and funding position of the
Company and monitoring regulatory and internal limits and
targets to ensure compliance at all times.

Risk measurement
A variety of methodologies and measurements are employed to

guantify the risks of the Company's portfolios and potential risk
concentrations. Risks that are not fully reflected within standard

measures are subject to additional controls, which may include
pre-approval of specific transactions and the application of
specific restrictions.

Stress testing

Stress testing is used to quantify the loss that could result from
extreme yet plausible macroeconomic and geopolitical stress
events, enabling identification, better understanding "and
management of potential vulnerabilities and risk concentrations.
The stress testing framework incorporates three pillars: (i)
combined stress tests, (i) a comprehensive range of portfolio-
and risk-type-specific stress tests and (iii} reverse stress testing.

The combined stress test (CST) framework is scenario-based
and aims to quantify overall entity-wide losses which could result
from a number of potential global systemic events. The
framework captures all material primary and consequential risks,
as well as business risks. Portfolio specific stress tests, which are
tailored to the risks of specific portfolios, may be subject to limits
to explicitly control risk taking, or may be monitored without
limits to identify vulnerabilities. Reverse stress testing starts from
a defined stress outcome and works backwards to identify the
economic or financial scenarios that could result in such an
outcome. As such, reverse stress testmg is intended to
complement forward stress tests by assuming “what if"
outcomes that extend beyond the range normally considered,
and thereby potentially challenge assumptlons regarding severity
and plausibility.

The identification, measurement, testing, limitation and
reporting of stress risks for the Company is subject to the same
process and governance as applied more broadly for the UBS
Group, with regular review by the Risk Committee. The Risk
Committee may recommend new scenarios and changes to
existing scenarios to address Company specific factors. )

Portfolio and position limits
In addition to entity-wide risk appetite objectives, exposures are
subject to entity-specific portfolio limits, which require Board
approval, as well as other credit and market risk limits. The
status of key risk limits are reported on a frequency appropriate
for each individual metric, and utilization against portfolio limits
is formally reported to the Risk Committee quarterly. The limits
are reviewed at least annually by the Board or the appropriate
authority and adjusted where necessary to be consistent with
business plans and confirmed risk appetite.

Limit excesses are monitored by Risk Control and escalated
for action where appropriate to Risk Officers.

Further information on the measurement, monitoring and
management of credit risk and market risk is provided in the
sections below.
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. Risk concentrations
A risk concentration exists where (i) a position is affected by
changes in a group of correlated factors, or a group of positions
are affected by changes in the same risk factor or a group of
correlated factors, and (ji) the exposure could, in the event of

large but plausible adverse developments, result in significant -

losses. The categories in which risk concentrations may occur

include counterparties, industries, legal entities, countries,

products and businesses.

The identification of risk concentrations requires judgment, as

potential future developments cannot-be accurately predicted
and may vary from period to period. In determining whether the
Company has a risk concentration, a number of elements are
considered, both individually and collectively.

These elements include the shared characteristics of the
positions and our counterparties, the size of the position or
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group of positions, the sensitivity of the position or group of
positions to changes in risk factors and the volatility and
correlations of those factors. Also important in our assessment is
the liquidity of the markets where the positions are traded, and
the availability and effectiveness of hedges or other potential
risk-mitigating factors. The value of a hedge instrument may not
always move in line with the position being hedged, and this
mismatch is referred to as basis risk. ]
Risk concentrations are subject to’increased monitoring by
Risk Control and are assessed to.determine whether they should
be reduced or mitigated depending on the available means to
do so. Risk concentrations are monitored and reported for all
counterparties, including UBS affiliate companies in general, and
UBS AG specifically, and across various dimensions, including
single name /counterparty, industry /sector, country and region.



Credit risk

Main sources of credit risk

Credit risk arises primarily from traded products, including over-
the-counter (OTC) derivative transactions and exchange-traded
derivatives, as well as securities financing transactions such as
repurchase agreements (repos and reverse repos), securities
borrowing and lending transactions. Credit risk from banking
products (such as loans, loan commitments and guarantees)
relates primarily to unfunded loan commitments which are sub-
participated to the Company's parent, UBS AG, or third parties,
and amounts due from banks. ‘

Overview of measurement, monitoring and management
techniques

Credit risk framework . ]

The Company applies the same framework for measuring,
monitoring and managing credit risk as the UBS Group. Credit
risk arising from transactions with individual counterparties is
" measured according to internal estimates of probability of
default, exposure at default and loss given default. Limits are
established for individual counterparties and groups of
counterparties covering banking and traded products as well as
settlement amounts. Limits apply not only to the current
outstanding amount, but also to contingent commitments and
the potential future exposure of traded products. The Company
also establishes portfolio level limits at these levels. For the
Investment Bank, the monitoring, measurement and limit
framework distinguishes between exposures intended to be held
to maturity (take-and-hold exposures) and those which are

intended to be held for a short term, pending distribution or risk’

transfer (temporary exposures). Within this framework, credit
limits for the Company are approved in accordance with
delegated credit authority, giving due consideration to the
Company’s risk capacity, risk appetite ‘and large exposure
requirements. Limits are monitored, and exposures relative to
key limits are formally reported to the Risk Committee on a
quarterly basis. Credit risk concentrations can arise if clients are
engaged in similar ~activities, are located in the same
geographical region or have comparable economic
characteristics, for example if their ability to meet contractual
obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic,
political or other conditions. To avoid credit risk concentrations,
the Company may, where appropriate, establish limits and/or
operational controls to constrain risk concentrations at portfolio
and sub-portfolio levels with regard to sector exposure, country
risk and specific product exposures.

Credit risk models
Models are used to estimate future credit losses that may be
implicit in our current portfolio.

Exposures to individual counterparties are measured based on
three generally accepted parameters: probability of default (PD),
loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD). For a
given credit facility, the product of these three parameters
results in the 12 months’ expected loss. These parameters are
the basis for the majority of our internal measures of credit risk.
We also use models to derive the portfolio credit risk measures
of expected loss, statistical loss and stress loss.

Credit risk mitigation

Credit risk is actively’ managed by taking collateral against
exposures, through the use of netting agreements, and through
the utilization of credit hedging.

Securities financing transactions are secured agamst the
pledge of eligible market securities which primarily include
transferable securities (such as bonds.and equities), which are
liquid and actively traded. Haircuts are applied to cover the
possible change in market value of the collateral over a given
close-out period.

OTC derivatives trading is conducted through central
counterparties (CCP) where practicable. Where CCP are not
used, we have clearly defined processes for entering into netting
and collateral arrangements, including the requirement to have
a legal opinion on the enforceability of contracts in relevant_
jurisdictions in the case of insolvency. Trading is generally
conducted under bilateral International Swaps and Derivatives
Association  (ISDA) or ISDA-equivalent master netting
agreements, which allow for the close-out and netting of all
transactions in the event of default. For.certain major market -
participant counterparties, we may in addition use two-way
collateral agreements under which either party can be required
to provide collateral in the form of cash or marketable securities,
typically limited to well-rated government debt, when the
exposure exceeds specified levels.

Single-name credit default swaps CDS, credit index CDS,
bespoke protection, and other instruments are used to actively -

‘manage credit risk in the Investment Bank. This is aimed at

reducing concentrations of risk from specific counterparties,
sectors or portfolios.
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. Strict guidelines are applied for taking credit hedges into
account for credit risk mitigation purposes. For example, when
monitoring exposures against limits, the Company does not
usually recognize credit risk mitigants such as proxy hedges
_ (credit protection on a correlated but different name) or credit
index CDS. Buying credit protection also creates credit exposure
against the protection provider. The Company monitors
exposures to credit protection providers and the effectiveness of
credit hedges as part of the overall credit exposures to the
relevant counterparties. In addition, the Company identifies and
monitors positions where it believes there is significant exposure
and correlation between the counterparty and the hedge
provider (so-called wrong-way risk). The policy is to discourage
such activity, and in any event or as market correlations may
change, not to recognize hedge benefits subject to wrong-way
risk within counterparty limits and credit exposure-related
calculations. .

The.Company also utilizes sub-participation arrangements to
transfer the risk of funded loans to its parent, UBS AG, or third
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parties. Collateral taken is generally in the form of cash or
marketable securities, is subject to haircuts and monitored for
concentration risks. The Company has a concentration - of
exposure against its parent, UBS AG, and its affiliates. This
exposure is largely collateralized, with strict terms as to the
quality of collateral that can be pledged. The Company has
Letters of Credit worth £5 million (2015: £2.3 million) which are
covered by the guarantee. :

Maximum exposure to credit risk
The table on the next page represents the IFRS view of the
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial
instrument and the respective collateral and other credit
enhancements mitigating credit risk for these classes of financial
instruments. The maximum exposure to credit risk includes the
carrying amounts of financial instruments recognized on the
balance sheet subject to credit risk and the notiona! amounts for
off-balance sheet arrangements.

Collateral is presented at fair value and capped at the
maximum exposure to credit risk for which it serves as security.



Maximum exposure to credit risk

31.12.16
Collateral Credit enhancements
Maximum
exposure Cash :
to credit  collateral Collateralized  Secured by Other
GBP rillions : risk _ received by securities  real estate coliateral Netting  Guarantees
Financial assets measured at amortized cost on gg BalaNOR Bl i
Balances with central banks! 3 - - - - - ) -
Due from banks 1,054 . e, - - - - T
2,799 - - -
2,638 - - =
....... 6,490 . SRR OO /1 - S
1‘054 ereeeeen - - 98 s sesesans
222 eereenranee . o . - " -
Other assets 114 = : - - - - =
Total financial assets measured at amortized cost 14,373 941 5,437 - 98 2,199 -
Financial assets measured at fair value on the balance sheet
---------------------- 17'451 2'598 N 505 H - . - . 12'793 -
1,866 T - eerereeneaes 57 rersessessatanens .
3,931 N 473 T = T T
Financial investments available-for-sale- debt instruments 121 - - - - - -
Total finandial assets measured at fair value 23,370 2,598 980 - 57 12,793 -
Total maximum exposure to cred!t risk reflected on the balance sheet 37,743 3,539 6,417 - 155 14,992 -
Guarantees ‘ 5 T z e TR R .
Loan commitments 2031 - - SR ST
Forward startlng transacnons, reverse repurchase and securities borrowing 3,153 _ 3,153 _ o _ _
agreemeNtS e ———————— . :
Total maximum exposure to credit risk not reflected on the balance sheet 5179 - 3153 . - 579 - 1,447
Total at the year-end 42,922 3,539 9,570 - 734 14,992 1,447
31.12:15 (restated)
. Collateral Credit enhancements
Maximum
exposure Cash R R
N to credit  collateral Collateralized  Secured by Other .
GBP millions risk  received by securities  real estate  collateral Netting _ Guarantees
Financial assets measured at amartized cost on the balance Shee‘ ..................................
Balances with CentalBaNKs oo seeseeneenene e searenen 5 - i ” o i pevirs
Due from banks - 841 " - - - - reeres
.Cash collateral on secuities borrowed? 3,047 T 047 e o evesereresrens -
Reverse repurchase agreements e 2,973 N 2L - - - v
E_a_gh collateral receivables on derivative instruments 6,027 1,792 - -
Loans and advances to customers 79 - o -
Other amounts owed to group undertakings " " T 150 - - " .
Other assets 169 - - - - - -
Total financial assets measured at amortized cost 14,002 1,792 6,020 - <55 1,747 -
inancial assets measured at falr value on the balance sheet . -
1,554 - = - 56 -
............ 17'668 1'678 ......200 - o ]3'964 EYTYTTIN
“Finandal assets designated at fair value- debt instruments . 666 - 249 - 33 - -
Financial investments available-for-sale- debt instruments 3,161 .- - - - - -
Total financial assets measured at fair value 23,049 1,678 449 - 89 13,964 =
Total maximum exposure to credit risk reflected on the balance sheet 37,051 3,470 6,469 - 144 15,711 -
e o o - S 2 SR -
LOaN COMMIMENtS | o ooooeoeeoereeresesecsssseenenes 1,646 reerersrsanaatn R - 897 - 749
Forward starting transactions, reverse repurchase and securities borrowing - 3672 _ 3672 _ _ _ _
_agreements
Total maximum exposure to credit risk not reflected on the balance sheet- 5321 - 3,672 - 900 - 749
Total at the year-end 42,372 3,470 10,141 - 1,043 15,711 749

1 Due to banks includes £157 million (2015: £232 million) of balances held with third-party banks on behalf of clients. The credit risk associated with these balances may be bourne by the clients. 2 Prior period
cash collateral on securities borrowed has been restated downwards by £664m. Refer to Note 1b for more information. 3 In addition the Company holds £4,363 million (2015: £4,418 million) of securities to
collateralize the exposure to UBS AG.
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Credit risk exposures arising from traded products are diversified across sectors. As of 31 December 2016 there was
- predominantly investment grade and are concentrated with £28m of financial assets past due but not impaired as the
clearing houses and financial services counterparties, including Company are expecting to fully recover this asset (2015: none).
banks. Banking products credit exposures are relatively well There are no individually impaired financial assets (2015: none).

Financial assets subject to credit risk by internal UBS rating scale

GBP million 31.12.16 .
Rating category 0-1 2-3 4-5 6-8 9-13  Defaulted Total
Balances with central banks . . 3 - N e, = - 3
Due from banks e e 58 923 3 R e 1054
Lash collateral on securities borrowed e 4 2,584 106 105 . ” - 2799
Reverse repurchaseagreements e 43 218 342 A = i 2638
‘Cash collateral on receivables on derivative instruments 463 4,308 1,439 175 o To4 . ~ 5,490'
L e 191 04 % 07 A2 10
e o underta"l{i'r.\i_;'; ........................................................... - 35 st — o - a5
T e e - e - e i - G
Financial instruments recognized at amortized cost on the balance sheet 772 10,485 2,006 458 625 28 14,374
Trading portfolio assets- debt instruments 264 84 575 112 102 - 1,866
'fositive replacement values 1,341 14,025 1,773 260 52 - 17,451

F sets designated at fair value 1,249 2,189 228 39 26 - 3,931
Financial investments available-for-sale - debt instruments 121 - - - - - 121
Financial instruments recognized at fair value on the balance sheet 2,974 17,028 2,577 611 179 - 23,369
Guarantees - - - 5 - - -
_Loan commitments - 808 287 379 ~ 2,021
Forward starting reverse repos agreements . T 3198 - " T 3188
Forward starting securities borrowing agreements - 7 - - - - 7
Commitments . - 3,961 547 292 379 - 5179
Total at year-end 3,746 31,475 5,129 1,361 1,183 28 42,922
GBP million ] 31.12.15 (restated)
Rating category 0-1 2-3 4-5 6-8 9-13 Defaulted Total
“Balances with central banks 4 1 o -
12 2871 114 49
465 2,243 229 36
647 4173 1014 140
165 m o 267 98
...... . 1 50 - -~
income and other Assets - - " L -
Financial instruments recognized at amortized cost on the balance sheet ) 1,292 10,496 1,631 323 254 - 13,996
Trading patifio assts- debt nsiruments 238 o 614 T S )
Positive replacement values 919 14,373 1,986 224 167 - 17,668
Financial assets designated at fair value - 198 242 26 - - 666
Financial investments available-for-sale - debt instruments 1,272 1,889 - C= - . 3,161
Financia! instruments recognized at fair value on the balance sheet | 2,428 16,944 2,842 584 251 - 23,049
Guarantees - e, - - 2 - 2
- 664 632 43 307 - 1,646
- R : -~ - - Fei
Forward sté}i'ing securities borrowing agreementsw .......... - T - z . - 1
Commitments - 4,331 637 43 310 - 5,321
Total at year-end 3,720 31,771 5110 951 814 - 42,366

1 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed has been restated downwards by £664m. Refer to Note 1b for more information.
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Market risk

Main sources of market risk

Market risk arising from the Company's trading activities relates
primarily to equity and fixed income securities and derivatives
trading for client facilitation purposes within the Investment
Bank. Non-trading interest rate risk, which relates primarily to
treasury activities is not material.

Overview of measurement, monitoring and management
techniques

The Company's exposure to market risk is managed under the
same framework as applied for the UBS Group, with entity
specific limits set by the Board for the two primary portfolio
measures of market risk; liquidity adjusted stress (LAS) and
value-at-risk (VaR). These portfolio measures are complemented
by position limits on portfolios and risk factors. Limits are
monitored, .and exposures relative to limits are reported at a
frequency and to a level of detail commensurate with the extent
and variability of the risk and the needs of senior management.
Exposures against key limits are formally reported to the Risk
.Committee on a quarterly basis.

Value-at-risk (VaR) definition

VaR is a statistical measure of market risk, représenting the
market risk losses that could potentially be realized over a set
time horizon at an established level of confidence. This assumes
no change in the company's trading position over the relevant
time period.

VaR limitations
Actual realized market risk losses may differ from those implied
by our VaR for a variety of reasons.
The VaR measure is calibrated to a specified level of
confidence-and may not indicate potential losses beyond this
" confidence level. .
- The 1-day time horizon used may not fully capture the market
risk of positions that cannot be closed out or hedged within
the specified period, ' ' :

— In certain cases, VaR calculations approximate the impact of
changes in risk factors on the values of positions and
portfolios. This may happen because the number of risk
factors included in the VaR model is necessarily limited. For
example, yield curve'risk factors do not exist for all future
dates;

- The effect of extreme market movements is subject to
estimation errors, which may result from non-linear risk
sensitivities, as well as the potential for actual volatility and
correlation levels to differ from assumptions implicit in the
VaR calculations; o '

- The use of 3 five-year window means that sudden increases in
market volatility will tend not to increase VaR as quickly as
the use of shorter historical observation periods, but the
increase will impact, our VaR for a longer period of time.
Similarly, following a period of increased volatility, as markets
stabilize, VaR predictions will remain more conservative for a

~ period of time influenced by the length of the historical
observation period.

No single measure may encompass the entirety of risks
associated with a position or portfolio. Consequently, we
employ a suite of various metrics with both overlapping and’
complementary characteristics in order to create a holistic
framework which ensures material completeness of risk
identification and measurement. As a statistical aggregate risk
measure, VaR supplements our comprehensive stress testing
framework.

Management VaR for the period
The table below shows minimum, maximum, average and
period-end management VaR by business division and general
market risk type. Average management VaR has remained at
low levels, with period-end VaR lower than 2015. ’
The comparative table below therefore shows minimum,
maximum, average and year-end management VaR for the
period from 01 January 2016 to 31 December 2016.
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Management value-at-risk (1-day, 95% confidence, 5 years of historical data) by business division and general market risk type

31.12.16
GBP miflion
Equity |ntg::: s Cre(tiii: F;:reign meti?se;%
. prea exchange  ommodities
Min, o o3 0.44 0,06 0.00°
Max, e 2182 02 031
Average 152083 0.18 0.02
_ Year end 0.44 0.85 1.16 019 000
Total management VaR 1.20 3.34 2.19 1.29 Average (per business division and risk type)
Investment Bank 0.59 3.02 1.77 on 152 o020 044 C 003
Corporate Center — Core Functions 004 166 0.57 1147 0.00 02 T 04 008 000
"C.;;porate Center — Non-core and Legacy P 0.00 154 0.73 0.00 027 0.68 0.09
Diversification effect X T 088) 0.00 w3 039 0.02)

1 Statistics at individual levels may not be summed to deduce the corresponding aggregate figures. The minima and maxima for each level may well occur on different days, and likewise the VaR for each business
line or risk type, being driven by the extreme loss tail of the corresponding distribution of simulated profits and losses for that business line or risk type, may well be driven by different days in the historical time .
series, rendering invalid the simple summation of figures to arrive at the aggregate level.

_ (
31.12.15
GBP million

" . 5 Energy,

ST S AL

commodities

e Y T R 073 .............. P T

..... o ‘ B e i o s

Average 1.55 0.88 i3 0.17 0.00

"""" _ i Year end 1.82 065 - 087 0.15 000

Total management VaR ) 1.41 335 2.06 21 Average (per business division and risk type)

e X S 114 35 113 194 15 073 055 090 000

Corporate Center — Core Functions 0.03 0.22 0.11 0.16 0.00 011 0.01 0.00 0.00
Corporate Center - Non-core and Legacy Pprtfolio 0.69 148 1.03 081 0.00 . 0.40 - 094 0.17 000

Diversiication effect : U osn sy oo ese w3 oy 000
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Cduntry risk

:

Sources of country risk

Country risk includes all country-specific events that occur within
a sovereign's jurisdiction and may lead to an impairment of the
Company's exposures. Country risk can take the form of
sovereign risk, which refers to the ability and wﬂlmgness of a
government to honor its financial commitments, transfer risk,
which would arise if an issuer or counterparty could not acquire
foreign currencies following a moratorium of a central bank on
foreign exchange transfers, or “other” country risk that may
manifest itself through increased and multiple counterparty and
issuer-default risk (systemic risk) on the one hand, and by events
that may affect the standing of a country (e.g., political stability,
institutional and legal framework) on the other hand. .

Country risk framework .

The Company has a well-established risk control framework
through which the risk profile of all countries where it has
exposure is assessed.

Each country is attributed a sovereign rating, which expresses
the probability of the sovereign defaulting on its own financial
obligations in foreign currency. Ratings are expressed by
statistically derived default probabilities. Based on this_internal
analysis, the probability of a transfer event occurring is also
defined and rules are established as to how the aspects of
. “other” country risk should be incorporated into the analysis of

the counterparty rating of incorporated entities that are
domiciled in the respective country.

Exposure to all countries must be commensurate with the
credit .ratings assigned to them, and it must not be
disproportionate to the respective country risk profile. A country
risk ceiling applies to all exposures to counterparties or issuers of
securities and financial investments in the respective country.
The extension of credit, transactions in traded products or
positions in securities based on a country ceiling, may be limited
even if the exposure to a counterparty is otherwise acceptable.
For internal measurement and control of country risk, the
financial impact of market disruptions .arising prior to, during
and following a country crisis is also considered. These may take
the form of a severe deterioration in a country’s debt, equity or
other asset markets or of a sharp depreciation of the currency.
Stress testing is used to assess the potential financial impact of a
severe country and / or sovereign crisis. This involves the
development of plausible stress scenarios for combined stress
testing and the identification of countries that may potentially
be-subject to a crisis event, determining potential losses and
making assumptions about recovery rates depending on' the
types of credit transactions involved and their economic
importance to the affected countries.

Exposures to market risks are also subject to regular stress
tests that cover major global scenarios, which are used for
combined stress testing as well, whereby market shock factors
are applied to equity indices, interest and currency rates in all
relevant countries and the potential liquidity of the mstruments
is considered,

79



UBS Limited | Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

Operational risk

Sources of operational risk

Operational risk can arise as a result of the Company’s past and
current business activities.

Overview of measurement, monitoring and management
techniques

The UBS Group has developed an operational risk framework,
described further below, that supports the identification,
assessment and remediation of material operational risks and
their potential concentrations, in order to achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and return. This same operational risk
framework is applied to the Company, for which individual
operational risk appetite objectives have been established.
Should a single operational risk event breach the operational risk
appetite, the Chief Executive and Compliance & Operational Risk
Control (C&ORC) must investigate the issue and ensure that a
remedial action plan is developed where appropriate. Should
aggregate operational risk events breach the operational risk
appetite, these will be escalated to the Risk Committee, who
should determine whether a broader review of the control
environment is required. Operational risk matters, including the
risk profile and emerging risks, remediation and initiatives, and
operational risk events are formally reported to the UK & IB
EMEA Operating Committee and the Risk Committee on a
quarterly basis. Operational risk is ‘also captured in the
Company’s combined stress test framework.

The Company has been provided with two indemnities by its
parent, UBS AG. The first indemnity indemnifies the Company
against any operational risk loss that exceeds CHF 100,000
when the event giving rise to the loss occurred prior to the
change in the Company's business model in May 2014 and
which is claimed by the Company within the following 7 years,
subject to an aggregate cap of £2 billion. The second indemnity
applies solely in the context of the Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio, and indemnifies the Company against any operational
risk loss that exceeds CHF 100,000 when the event giving rise to
the loss occurs and is claimed within 3 years of May 2014,
subject to an aggregate cap of £2 billion.

Operational risk framework

The business division Presidents and the Corporate Center
function heads are ultimately accountable for the effectiveness
of operational risk management and for the implementation of
the operational risk framework. Management in all functions is
responsible for ensuring an appropriate operational risk
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management environment, including the establishment and
maintenance of robust internal controls, effective supervision

and a strong risk culture.

C&ORC provides an independent and objective view of ‘the
adequacy of operational risk management across the UBS
Group. It is governed by the UBS Group C&ORC Management
Committee, which is chaired by the Global Head of C&ORC,
who reports to the UBS Group Chief Risk :Officer. The
operational risk framework describes general requirements for
managing and controlling operational risk at UBS. It is built on
four main pillars:

1. classification of inherent risks through the operational risk
taxonomy;, : :

2. assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of
controls through the internal control assessment process;

3. assessment of residual risk through the operational and
business risk assessment processes with remediation to address
identified deficiencies which are outside accepted levels of
residual risk;

4. identification of excessive levels of operational risk through
the operational risk appetite framework, with actions initiated to-
return to accepted levels of risk

The operational risk taxonomy provides a clear and logical
classification of our inherent operational risks, across all business
divisions. Throughout the organizational hierarchy, a level of risk
tolerance must be agreed for each of the taxonomy categories
together with a minimum set of internal controls and associated
performance thresholds considered necessary to -keep risk
exposure within the acceptable levels.

All functions within the firm are required to perform a
periodic internal control assessment process whereby they assess
and evidence the design and operating effectiveness of their key
controls. )
The UBS risk assessment approach covers all business activities
and internal as well as external factors posing a threat to UBS
Group. Aggregated ' with any weaknesses in the control
environment, the risk assessment articulates the current
operational risk exposure against agreed risk tolerance levels.
Significant control deficiencies that surface during the internal
control and risk assessment processes must be reported in the
operational risk inventory and sustainable remediation must be
defined -and executed. All significant issues are assigned to
owners at senior management level and must be reflected in the
respective employees’ annual performance measurement and
management objectives. To assist with prioritization of all known
operational risk issues, irrespective of origin, a common rating
methodology is adopted by all internal control functions and
both internal and external audit. Group Internal Audit conducts
an issue assurance process after a risk issue has been closed, in
order to maintain rigorous management discipline in the
sustainable' mitigation and control of -operational risk issues.
Responsibility for the front-to-back control environment and risk
management is held by the Chief Operating Officers.
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Treasury management

Liquidity and funding management

Strategy and objectives

UBS Limited's liquidity-and funding risk is monitored, efficiently
structured and managed on an entity specific basis and as an
integral part of the Group's liquidity and funding strategy.

The objective is to ensure that the Company has sufficient
funds available to meet payment obligations when they fall due

without additional funding from Group entities, in both normal

and stress conditions, including an idiosyncratic liquidity event

" combined with a generally stressed market environment. UBS
Limited uses the Group .internal liquidity and funding models
which are amended as appropriate to ensure that they
appropriately reflect local requirements. The assumptions. are
reviewed by the UBS Limited Asset and Liability Committee
(ALCO), Risk Committee and Board of Directors at least annually
as part of the Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process
(ILAAP). .

Governance

UBS Limited’s liquidity and funding strategy is proposed by the
Treasurer, approved by the Board and overseen by the UBS
Limited ALCO. Regional Treasury EMEA monitors and_oversees
the implementation and execution of the liquidity and funding
strategy. The strategy is supported through liquidity and funding
policy and a framework of liquidity and funding limits and
targets. These are proposed -by the Treasurer,” independently
assessed by Treasury Risk Control and reviewed by the UBS
Limited ALCO before passing to the UBSL Risk Committee and
Board for formal approval and adoption.

Regulatory liquidity requirements

The Company is subject to prudential regulations to maintain
appropriate liquidity metrics, specifically the Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (LCR) as required by the PRA. The LCR assesses whether

" the Company has sufficient High-Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) to
survive a significant stress scenario over a period of 30 days. For
2016, the PRA LCR minimum requirement was set at 80%. This
increased to 90% on 1 January 2017 and is expected to increase
to 100% on 1 January 2018. Future changes in the regulatory
regime will be adopted as the requirements evolve. This will
include the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR). The NSFR measures
whether the Company has enough stable funding to cover
funding requirements of its assets and . off-balance sheet
positions.

Funding management

UBS Limited is funded on a secured and unsecured basis with
external and internal counterparts. The Company is active in
wholesale money markets where it accepts deposits from
corporate and financial institutions. The Company also engages
in repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions with approved
counterparties subject to credit risk control limits in place for The
Company and the Group. Furthermore the Company accesses
intercompany loans from UBS AG on standard market terms.

Liquidity management, contingency funding and stress
testing :

UBS Limited measures and monitors liquidity risk using a set of
models, tools and controls covering normal and stressed market
conditions. The key models address both near term liquidity risk
as well as longer term structural liquidity and funding risk. The
models assess whether the Company has sufficient liquidity to
survive a combined severe idiosyncratic and market-wide stress
event up to 3 months and whether the Company has sufficient
long term funding to maintain franchise assets at a constant
level under general market stressed conditions for up to one
year. .
UBS Limited's Contingency Funding Plan (CFP) summarizes
liquidity and funding management actions and defines roles and
responsibilities in supporting the liquidity of the entity in a
liquidity stress. The establishment, regular testing- and annual
updating of the CFP ensures a robust, reliable and cost effective
response to potential liquidity events. Liquidity crisis scenario -
analysis and contingency funding planning support the liquidity
management process, which ensures that immediate corrective
measures to absorb potential sudden liquidity shortfalls can be
put into effect.

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The table on the following page shows consolidated total assets,
liabilities and off-balance sheet commitments by residual
contractual maturity at the balance sheet date. The contractual
maturity of liabilities is based on the earliest date the Company
could be required to pay and the contractual maturity of assets
is based on the latest date the-asset will mature. This basis of
presentation differs from Note 27 Financial assets and liabilities,

. which is presented on an undiscounted basis.

Derivative replacement values and trading portfolio assets and
liabilities are assigned to the column 'Due less than 1 month’,
although the respective contractual maturities may extend over
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significantly longer periods. Financial assets and liabilities with
no contractual maturity (such as equity securities) are included in
the Perpetual / not applicable time bucket. Undated or perpetual
instruments are classified based on contractual notice period
which the counterparty of the instrument is entitled to give.
Where there is no contractual notice period, undated or

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

'

perpetual contracts are included in the Perpetual / not applicable
time bucket. Non-financial assets and liabilities with no
contractual maturity (such as current and deferred tax assets and
liabilities and retirement benefit liabilities) are generally included
in the Perpetual time bucket. Loan commitments are classified
on the basis of the earliest date they can be drawn down.

Due Due Due Due Due Due
Due less between between between between between between Perpetual/
than1 1and3 3and6 6and9 9and12 1and2 2andS Due after non
. GBP million month months _months _months  months years years  5years applicable Total
© Assets
Cash and bala:|:1:c::e:s:_yvith central banks 3 - T - Zm - - -
Due from banks 1,054 - - - - - - - =
Cash collateral on securities borrowed . 2,799 - - - - - - - -
Reverse repurchase agreements 296 123 59 T - - -
Trading portfolio assets - T, - S, - - -
of which: pledged as collateral - - - - - - -
Positive replacement values o, - - - - - -
Cash collateral rec.on derivative instr. 6,490 - N = . - - - -
Loans and advances to customers o 765 - - - 70 23 112 83 -
Financial assets designated at v 680 942 14 442 936 449 53 -
Other amounts due from group undertaki'ﬁ.dé """ - - - - - - - -
Financial investments available-for-sale = - 60 o 9 52 - - 2
Other assets 14 - - T, - - - - -
Deferred tax assets - - - - - - - - 47
Total assets 2016 35,907 860 1,298 263 580 1,011 560 136 50
Total assets 2015! 34,137 _ 1,840 998 316 369 576 879 153 174
Liabites o e ettt e
Due tobanks ‘ Cmmm— 1341 399 - - 70 23
Cash collateral on securities lent o 46 182 - - - -
Repurchase agreements 65 -
Trading portfolio liabilities - -
'N.éi;'étive replacement values - -
Cash collateral payables on derivative instr - N
Due to customers. - -
Financial liabilities designated at fair value 101 - 70 - 194 295
Other amounts owed to group undertakings 116 - T - -
Other liabilities 194 4 - = - -
T - - - e - -
Provisions 4 = - - - -
Total liabilities 2016 33,455 1,003 1,570 136 329 318 122 822 34 37,789
Total liabilities 2015 32,126 1,319 813 400 247 280 461 740 14 36,400
Financial liabilities not recognized on the balance sheet
T&%H e TE - - - - - o - - 2021
Suarantees B S-S i
Forward starting transactions e
revocable forward starting reverse repo agreements - - - - T T S 46,
Imevocable forward starting securities borrowing agreements - — ~ - - - - - 7
Total 2016 5179 - - - - - - - - 5179
Total 2015 5321 - - - - - - - - 5321

1 Prior period cash collateral on securities borrowed has been restated downwards by £664m.
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Capital management

Strategy and Ob]ectlves

UBS lented s capital is managed through its capital
management framework, and by adhenng to the Group cap|tal
Management Policy.

The objective of the capital framework is to ensure that the
Company complies with relevant capital adequacy regulations at
all times, adheres to internal capital constraints set locally and at
a Group level, fosters an efficient use of capital and meets the
strategic needs of its ultimate parent, UBS Group AG.

Governance

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Company's capital
adequacy and delegates oversight and monitoring to the UBS
Limited ALCO. The Board reviews related matters as escalated
by the ALCO, Finance Director and Treasurer. The Board sets
capital limits, thresholds and triggers as appropriate " that
incorporate escalation as required.

Regulatory Capital requirements
. .

The Company's Capital Management Framework ensures
compliance with regulatory requirements. Procedures are in
place to monitor future changes to regulation and implement
projects to ensure these are evaluated and incorporated into the

reporting processes. Refer to. Note 29 Share Capital for more
information.

Capital management, recovery contingency planning and
stress testing

The Company. monitors its capital adequacy position daily. The
ALCO formally reviews the capital position monthly and its risk
weighted assets at legal entity, business unit and risk types.

The Company undertakes quarterly stress tests of its capital
position. The results are evaluated to ensure that internal
thresholds set by management would continue to be met in the
stress scenarios. The results are reported to the ALCO.

The overall Company planning process includes a capital plan
which takes account of business forecasts, market conditions,
and othef developments such as accounting or regulatory
changes that may impact capital.

Stress testing of the capital plan enables the Company to
ensure its overall flnar}aal adequacy in a range of severe but
plausible scenarios that is undertaken in accordance with Group
frameworks. Stress testing enables the Company to gauge its -
PRA Buffer.

A range of possible capital restoration actions are considered
as part of UBS Limited's Recovery Plan, although these actions
can be taken at any time to ensure overall capital adequacy at all
times. These actions include analysis of the credibility,
effectiveness and timelines for raising various forms of capital.
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Note 34 Events occurring after the balance sheet date

On 1 January 2017, the business from UBS AG Sweden Branch . .There were no material events occurring after the balance sheet
was transferred to UBS Limited Sweden Branch. On 28 February date that require adjustments to or disclosure within these
2017, the representative office in Carouge (Geneva) was closed.  Financial Statements.

Note 35 Parent undertaking

The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is UBS Copies of the financial statements of UBS Group AG can be
Group AG, a company incorporated in Switzerland. This is the obtained from the Company Secretary, UBS AG London Branch,
largest group company preparing consolidated financial 5 Broadgate, London EC2M 2QS.

statements which include the Company’s financial statements.
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Rounding | Numbers presented throughout this report may not add up precisely to the totals provided in the tables and text. Percentages and percent changes
are calculated based on rounded figures displayed in the tables and text and may not precisely reflect the percentages and percent changes that would be -
derived based on figures that are not rounded.



